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Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Board Members
Jacksonville Transportation Authority
Jacksonville, Florida
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities,
each major fund and the aggregate remaining fund information of the Jacksonville Transportation Authority (the
“Authority”), a component unit of the City of Jacksonville, Florida, as of and for the year ended September 30, 2011,
which collectively comprise the Authority’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents. These
financial statements are the responsibility of the Authority’s management. Our responsibility is to express opinions
on these financial statements based on our audit.
We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America
and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the
Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit
also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our
opinion.
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective
financial position of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each major fund and the aggregate
remaining fund information of the Jacksonville Transportation Authority as of September 30, 2011, and the respective
changes in financial position, and, where applicable, cash flows thereof for the year then ended in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
As discussed in Note13 of the financial statements, the Authority adopted the provisions of GASB 54, Fund Balance
Reporting and Government Fund Type Definitions, in fiscal year 2011.
In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated March 29, 2012, on our
consideration of the Authority’s internal control over financial reporting and our tests of its compliance with certain
provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and grant agreements, and other matters. The purpose of this report is to
describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that
testing, and not to provide an opinion on the internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. This report is
an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards and should be considered
in assessing the results of our audit.
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The management’s discussion and analysis (“MD&A”), budgetary comparison information for the general fund and
schedules of funding progress – other post-employment benefits plan and pension plan, as listed in the table of
contents, are not a required part of the basic financial statements but are supplementary information required by the
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. We have applied certain limited
procedures, which consisted principally of inquiries of management regarding the methods of measurement and
presentation of the required supplementary information. However, we did not audit the information and express no
opinion on it.
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively comprise
the Authority’s basic financial statements. The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards and state
financial assistance is presented for purposes of additional analysis, as required by the U.S. Office of Management
and Budget Circular A-133, Audits of States, Local Government, and Non-Profit Organizations, and Chapter 10.550,
Rules of the Auditor General, State of Florida, and is not a required part of the basic financial statements. Such
information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and
in our opinion is fairly stated in all material respects, in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole.

Jacksonville, Florida
March 29, 2012
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Jacksonville Transportation Authority
Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)
This discussion and analysis is designed to provide insight into the Jacksonville Transportation Authority’s (JTA or
the “Authority”) annual financial report by discussing significant financial issues and changes in financial position
based on currently known facts in order to better explain material changes in the Authority’s financial position and
performance during the fiscal year ended September 30, 2011 as compared to September 30, 2010.
The information contained herein is designed to assist the reader in assessing the Authority’s financial position. We
encourage readers to consider the information contained in this discussion in conjunction with all of the other
sections of the Authority’s financial statements.
Financial Highlights
On an entity wide basis, total revenues were up $7.8 million or 5.0%. Intergovernmental revenues (sales tax
dedicated to transportation as well as the local option gas tax) increased by $5.6 million, reflective of the beginnings
of an economic recovery. Revenues from operating and capital grants also increased $2.2 million year over year.
Consistent with the Agency’s focus on cost containment, on an entity wide basis, total expenses were up but limited
to a $6.1 million increase, or 3.7% over the prior year, despite rising fuel costs.
The following financial highlights will serve as background in understanding the more detailed explanations that
follow:
o

Net assets
The term “net assets” refers to the difference between assets and liabilities. At the close of fiscal year 2011,
the Authority’s total net assets were $289.3 million, a decrease of 1.7%, or $4.9 million from the prior year.
The decrease is a combination of an increase in governmental net assets of $2.9 million and a decrease in
business-type net assets of $7.8 million. The decrease in business-type net assets was attributable to a
$6.1 million pension asset being booked for the first time in the prior year. Absent that adjustment, the net
asset decrease for business-type activities would have been only $1.7 million or 0.9%. The entity wide year
end net asset balance consisted of amounts invested in capital assets of $172 million and unrestricted net
assets of $117 million.

o

Grant expenditures
The Authority expended $29.2 million in federal and state assistance, which was down 30.6% from
$42.1 million in 2010. The distribution of the expenditures was $24.1 million for federal awards, primarily
from formula grants, including ARRA (American Recovery and Reinvestment Act) and $5.2 million for state
assistance, primarily from the Block grant. The decrease from the prior year is attributable to a fiscal 2010
award of $13 million from the state DOT for Hecksher drive. No such award was made in fiscal 2011.

o

Capital Expenditures and Engineering projects.
Total capital assets net of depreciation decreased in 2011, from $174 million to $172 million, a decline of
1%. The decrease in capital assets was primarily due to the excess of depreciation over current year
capital additions.
In the Governmental funds, $16.2 million was spent for the planning, development and construction of road
and bridge projects. For the prior year, $56.7 million had been spent, a decrease of $40.5 million or 71.4%.
This is a reflection of the winding down of the Better Jacksonville Plan, enacted in calendar year 2000. In
2011, approximately $133 million in custodial assets were contributed either to the State of Florida or the
City of Jacksonville versus $169 million total in 2010.
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Jacksonville Transportation Authority
Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)
Overview of the Financial Statements
This discussion is to introduce the Jacksonville Transportation Authority’s basic financial statements. The basic
financial statements are comprised of three components: government-wide statements, fund financial statements,
and notes to the financial statements.
The government-wide financial statements are the first two statements that focus on the Authority as a whole and
provide both long-term and short-term information about the Authority’s overall financial condition. These statements
provide readers with a broad view of the Authority’s finances, similar to a private sector business.
The fund financial statements are the remaining statements. They are similar to traditional governmental financial
statements. These statements report on individual parts of the Authority’s operations and include more detail than
the government-wide statements.
Government-wide Financial Statements
The government-wide statements report on the Authority as a whole using accounting rules very similar to those
used by private companies. There are two government-wide statements. The first is the statement of net assets,
which combines and reports all of the Authority’s assets and liabilities. The second is the statement of activities. It
combines and reports all of the Authority’s revenues and expenses regardless of when cash is paid or received.
These two financial statements demonstrate how the Authority’s net assets have changed. Net assets are the
difference between total assets and total liabilities and are one way of assessing the Authority’s current financial
condition. Increases or decreases in net assets are good indicators of whether the Authority’s financial health is
improving or deteriorating over time. Other non-financial factors, such as changes in local economic conditions,
regulations, and government legislation, are important in evaluating the Authority’s overall financial condition.
The government-wide financial statements are grouped into two categories:
Governmental activities. Included here are road construction and general engineering administration.
Business-type activities. The Authority’s Bus, Automated Skyway Express (“ASE”), and Community Transportation
Coordinator (“CTC”) operations are classified here. In these activities, the Authority charges customers fees to cover
a portion of the cost of providing these goods and services.
Fund Financial Statements
The Authority’s fund statements report in greater detail than the government-wide statements on the Authority’s most
significant funds. A fund is a group of related accounts used to exercise control over specific resources set apart for
specific activities. The Authority, like other state and local governments, uses funds to ensure and demonstrate
compliance with financial requirements imposed by law, bond covenants, and local administrative and legislative
actions.
The Authority maintains several individual governmental funds. The General Fund and the Special Revenue Fund
are presented separately in the governmental fund balance sheet and in the statement of revenues, expenditures,
and changes in fund balances. In addition, the Authority maintains several individual proprietary funds. The Bus,
ASE, and CTC Funds are presented separately in the proprietary fund balance sheet and in the statement of
revenues, expenses, and changes in fund balance.
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Jacksonville Transportation Authority
Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)
All of the Authority’s funds are classified in one of the following categories.
Governmental funds tell how basic governmental services were paid for in the short-term as well as what remains for
near future spending. These funds account for essentially the same services as those reported as governmental
activities in the government-wide statements. Because the fund view does not include the additional long-term focus
of the government-wide statements, we provide additional information following the governmental funds balance
sheet and the governmental funds statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances that explains
the differences between the two views.
Proprietary funds report on business type operations such as Bus, Connexion, and Skyway operations, where the
fees typically cover a portion of the costs of operations. These statements offer both long and short-term financial
information. The Authority’s enterprise funds, one type of proprietary fund, are a more detailed reporting of the
amounts classified as business-type activities in the government-wide statements.
Notes to the Financial Statements
The notes provide additional information and explanation that is necessary for a full understanding of both the
government-wide and fund statements.
Government-wide Financial Analysis
Our analysis of the Authority’s financial statements begins below. The Statement of Net Assets and the Statement of
Activities, in summary format, follow. These two statements report the net assets, the difference between assets and
liabilities, as one way to measure financial health. Over time, increases or decreases in the Authority’s Net Assets
are one indicator of whether its financial health is improving or deteriorating. However, you will need to consider
other non-financial factors such as changes in economic conditions, population growth, regulation, and new
government legislation.
To begin our analysis, a summary of the Authority’s balance sheet is presented in Table A-1.
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Jacksonville Transportation Authority
Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)
Table A-1
Condensed Statement of Net Assets
Governmental Activities
Current and other assets
Capital assets
Total assets
Current liabilities
Long-term liabilities
Total liabilities

2011

2010

$ 327,276,196

$ 444,092,493

13,635,321

14,126,590

340,911,517
6,134,550

Business-Type Activities
2011

2011

2010

31,570,738

$ 356,342,543

$ 475,663,231

158,559,110

159,826,055

172,194,431

173,952,645

458,219,083

187,625,457

191,396,793

528,536,974

649,615,876

10,384,896

11,109,964

7,150,764

17,244,514

17,535,660

$

29,066,347

2010

Total

$

219,846,175

335,783,431

2,147,081

2,113,532

221,993,256

337,896,963

225,980,725

346,168,327

13,257,045

9,264,296

239,237,770

355,432,623

13,635,321

14,126,590

158,559,110

159,826,055

172,194,431

173,952,645

101,295,471
$ 114,930,792

97,924,166
$ 112,050,756

15,809,302
$ 174,368,412

22,306,442
$ 182,132,497

117,104,773
$ 289,299,204

120,230,608
$ 294,183,253

Net assets:
Invested in capital assets
Unrestricted
Total net assets

Statement of Net Assets 2011 vs. 2010
The Authority’s governmental activities show a decrease of $117 million or 26% in total assets from 2010. The
primary contributor to the decrease was the $116 million reduction in the custodial assets line item. Custodial assets
represent the sum total of planning, design and construction of assets that are built for others. As mentioned
previously, $133 million in custodial assets were transferred either to the State of Florida or the City of Jacksonville in
fiscal 2011 versus $169 million total in 2010.
Total liabilities for governmental activities decreased as well, by $120 million or 35%. The decrease is attributable to
the aforementioned custodial assets. On the obligation side, this is the line item that contains the estimated liability
for construction projects that will be turned over to the state or city upon completion. The Governmental funds’
change in net assets was a net increase of $2.9 million from the prior year.
Total assets for the Authority’s business type activities’ decreased $3.8 million or 2% from the prior year. As
mentioned earlier, the decrease in business-type assets was attributable to a $6.1 million pension asset being
booked for the first time in the prior year. Absent that adjustment, the decrease in total assets for business-type
activities of $3.8 million would have been an increase of $2.3 million.
Total liabilities for Business type activities increased from $9.3 million to $13.3 million. The increase was centered in
the trade accounts payable line item, in the current liabilities section (those items requiring payment within the next
twelve months). This increased balance was generated through the normal course of business and is a function of
what day of the month the fiscal year ends.
A condensed summary of the Authority’s revenues and expenses follows in Table A-2. While the Statement of Net
Assets shows the change in financial position, the Statement of Activities provides answers as to the nature and
source of these changes.
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Jacksonville Transportation Authority
Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)
Table A-2
Condensed Statement of Activities
Governmental Activities
2011
2010
Revenue:
Program revenue:
Charges for services
$
Operating grants and
contributions
Capital grants and
contributions
General revenue:
Sales taxes
64,980,887
Intergovernmental
Investment earnings
141,268
Other general revenues
142,115
Total revenue
65,264,270
Expenses:
General government
1,176,123
Highway planning
11,875
Intergovernmental
City of Jacksonville
56,280,790
State of Florida
8,246,458
Bus
Automated skyway express
Community transportation
Total expenses
65,715,246
Increases in net assets
before transfers
(450,976)
Transfers
3,331,012
Change in net assets
2,880,036
Net assets, beginning, as restated
112,050,756
$ 114,930,792
Net assets, ending

$

Business-Type Activities
2011
2010

Total
2011

2010

-

$ 21,381,125

$ 20,341,894

$ 21,381,125

$ 20,341,894

-

12,173,710

10,608,130

12,173,710

10,608,130

-

14,459,964

13,664,236

14,459,964

13,664,236

50,753,088
18,446
98,786,333

46,593,712
53,130
91,261,102

64,980,887
50,753,088
159,714
142,115
164,050,603

63,573,456
46,593,712
164,920
1,319,960
156,266,308

1,176,123
11,875

4,234,685
23,421

63,573,456
111,790
1,319,960
65,005,206

-

4,234,685
23,421

-

49,163,079
9,867,670
63,288,855

75,695,387
12,412,888
15,111,131
103,219,406

72,288,109
13,294,989
13,939,168
99,522,266

56,280,790
8,246,458
75,695,387
12,412,888
15,111,131
168,934,652

49,163,079
9,867,670
72,288,109
13,294,989
13,939,168
162,811,121

1,716,351
1,716,351
110,334,405
$ 112,050,756

(4,433,073)
(3,331,012)
(7,764,085)
182,132,497
$ 174,368,412

(8,261,164)
(8,261,164)
190,393,661
$ 182,132,497

(4,884,049)
(4,884,049)
294,183,253
$ 289,299,204

(6,544,813)
(6,544,813)
300,728,066
$ 294,183,253

Statement of Activities 2011 vs. 2010
For the Governmental activities, revenues decreased only $259 thousand or 0.4% from the prior year. The general
sales tax revenues (the first half cent sales tax, dedicated to transportation in Duval County) rebounded from prior
year levels to increase $1.4 million over last year’s receipts. (Note: this sales tax figure represents gross proceeds,
before any debt service on State of Florida or City of Jacksonville bonds.)
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Jacksonville Transportation Authority
Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)
Expenditures for Governmental activities in total increased by $2.4 million or 3.8%. While administrative expenses
declined by $3.0 million, debt service payment increased by $5.4 million. Annual debt service amounts can vary
greatly, especially in later years as some of the bond issues approach maturity.
Total revenues for Business-type activities increased by $7.5 million, or 8.5%. The increase was spread among all
categories, with intergovernmental revenue (combined sales tax and gas tax) leading the way with a year to year
$4.1 million increase; next was the Operating grants category, up $1.6 million followed by the Charges for services
category (essentially farebox revenues), up $1.1 million and Capital grants, up $0.7 million.
Total expenses for Business type activities increased by $3.7 million year over year. 84% of the increase was spread
over three categories: fuel, up $2.0 million due to price increases; Community Shuttle service (a newer mode of fixed
route bus service that involves a smaller vehicle than the traditional 40 foot long bus, but allows for deviations into
local neighborhoods), up $0.8 million and parts expense for our Connexion fleet, up $0.3 million.
Entity-wide, net assets were $4.9 million, or 1.7%, lower than the prior year.
Financial Analysis of the Authority’s Funds
General Fund Budgetary Highlights
2011
Total Intergovernmental Revenues for the General fund were budgeted at $65.9 million; actual revenues were
$65 million, reflecting slightly positive local and state trends.
General Government Expenditures for the General fund were budgeted at $1.8 million; the actual amount of
expenditures was $1.1 million. This was primarily the result of decreased salaries, fringes and consulting expenses
as the Better Jacksonville Plan was winding down. The Intergovernmental expenditures for the State of Florida and
the City of Jacksonville were budgeted at $58 million. The actual amount was $56.2 million. This was a function of
fewer dollars of sales tax received equating to fewer dollars of sales tax transferred for debt service.
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Jacksonville Transportation Authority
Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)
Capital Asset and Debt Administration
Capital Assets
At the end of Fiscal Year 2011, the Authority showed $172.1 million in both the governmental and business-type
activities in a broad range of Land, Buildings, Vehicles, Equipment and Construction in Progress as shown in Table
A-3.
Table A-3
Capital Assets
Governmental

Business-Type

Activities
2011
Land

$

Land improvements

Activities
2010

13,512,437

$

-

2011

13,993,995

$

23,240,178

-

Total
2010

$

23,240,178

2011
$

36,752,615

2010
$

37,234,173

5,488,560

6,448,096

5,488,560

6,448,096

Building and
improvements
Vehicles

47,247

52,342

68,180,069

70,598,372

68,227,316

70,650,714

44,540

39,703

39,287,944

41,429,983

39,332,484

41,469,686

31,097

40,550

Furniture and office
equipment
Other equipment
Construction in progress
Total

$

13,635,321

798,536

998,154

829,633

1,038,704

8,237,162

10,974,839

8,237,162

10,974,839

13,326,661
$ 158,559,110

6,136,433
$ 159,826,055

13,326,661
$ 172,194,431

6,136,433
$ 173,952,645

$

14,126,590

Economic Factors and Next Year’s Budgets and Rates
The Authority’s Board of Directors approved the Fiscal Year 2012 Budget in May, 2011. The budget was
subsequently approved by the City of Jacksonville in September, 2011. Management considered many factors when
setting the budget. These factors include the expected demand of the Authority’s customers and any anticipated
economic challenges in the near future.
The sales tax and gas tax flowing through the Interlocal Agreement of the Better Jacksonville Plan (BJP) are primary
sources of funding for the Authority. Sales tax is the major source of revenue for the BJP. Sales tax revenues made
a modest rebound in fiscal year 2011 and a continuing upward trend is anticipated. Gas tax revenues have proven to
be more resilient, but in light of gas tax collections being a derivative of gallons sold, management remains
concerned about limited growth potential and even gross revenue losses as driving habits are impacted by gasoline
prices.
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Jacksonville Transportation Authority
Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)
Increasing competition for discretionary grant funds continues to escalate as public agencies vie for limited or
reduced federal and state grant programs. The Authority is also pursuing any new funding opportunities including
public private partnerships, transit oriented development, and others.
Subsequent to year end, in response to continuing economic challenges, the Agency’s board approved a general
fare increase for the bus system. This is expected to yield between $2 and $3 million annually. Additionally, the
Authority’s remaining state of Florida bonds were re-financed which should result in lower annual debt service
payments, bringing further relief to Mass Transit operations.
Requests for Information
This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the Authority’s finances for all those with an interest
therein. Questions concerning any of the information provided in this report or requests for additional information
may be addressed to:
Finance Department
Jacksonville Transportation Authority
100 North Myrtle Avenue
Jacksonville, FL 32203
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Jacksonville Transportation Authority

Statement of Net Assets
September 30, 2011
Governmental
Activities

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Investments
Internal balances
Due from other governments
Accounts receivable, net
Inventory
Prepaids
Noncurrent assets:
Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Custodial assets – construction projects
Net pension asset
Capital assets (net of accumulated depreciation):
Land
Construction in progress
Land improvements
Buildings and improvements
Vehicles
Furniture and office equipment
Other equipment
Total assets
Liabilities
Current Liabilities
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses
Due to other governments
Claims payable
Accrued compensated absences
Noncurrent liabilities:
Claims payable
Accrued compensated absences
OPEB obligation
Custodial projects – due to other governments
Total liabilities
Net Assets
Invested in capital assets
Unrestricted
Total net assets

$

43,982,275
30,155,413
3,667,937
30,205,682
9,167
-

$

See Notes to Financial Statements.
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Business-Type
Activities
$

5,714,382
(3,667,937)
14,690,384
812,486
3,872,010
513,307

Total
$

49,696,657
30,155,413
44,896,066
821,653
3,872,010
513,307

19,866,615
199,389,107
-

7,131,715

19,866,615
199,389,107
7,131,715

13,512,437
47,247
44,540
31,097
340,911,517

23,240,178
13,326,661
5,488,560
68,180,069
39,287,944
798,536
8,237,162
187,625,457

36,752,615
13,326,661
5,488,560
68,227,316
39,332,484
829,633
8,237,162
528,536,974

4,892,304
488,529
597,175
156,542

8,051,389
1,098,169
1,834,580
125,826

12,943,693
1,586,698
597,175
1,834,580
282,368

326,453
264,000
219,255,722
225,980,725

1,643,778
503,303
13,257,045

1,643,778
829,756
264,000
219,255,722
239,237,770

13,635,321
101,295,471
114,930,792

158,559,110
15,809,302
174,368,412

172,194,431
117,104,773
289,299,204

$

$

Jacksonville Transportation Activity

Statement of Activities
Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2011

Functions/Programs
Transportation Authority:
Governmental activities:
General government
Highway planning and construction
Intergovernmental:
City of Jacksonville
State of Florida
Total governmental
activities
Business-type activities:
Bus system
Automated skyway express
Community transportation coordinator
Total business-type
activities
Total transportation
authority

Charges
for Services

Expenses

$

1,176,123
11,875

$

-

Program Revenue
Operating
Capital
Grants and
Grants and
Contributions
Contributions

$

-

$

-

56,280,790
8,246,458

-

-

-

65,715,246

-

-

-

75,695,387
12,412,888
15,111,131

10,192,089
288,969
10,900,067

10,415,870
1,000,000
757,840

12,658,111
901,997
899,856

103,219,406

21,381,125

12,173,710

14,459,964

$ 168,934,652

$

21,381,125

$

12,173,710

General revenues:
Sales taxes
Intergovernmental revenues
Investment earnings
Other
Transfers
Total general revenues
Change in net assets
Net assets, beginning of year
Net assets, end of year

See Notes to Financial Statements.
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$

14,459,964

Net (Expense) Revenue and
Changes in Net Assets
Primary Government
Governmental
Business-Type
Activities
Activities

$

$

(1,176,123)
(11,875)

$

-

$

Total

(56,280,790)
(8,246,458)

-

(1,176,123)
(11,875)
(56,280,790)
(8,246,458)

(65,715,246)

-

(65,715,246)

-

(42,429,317)
(10,221,922)
(2,553,368)

(42,429,317)
(10,221,922)
(2,553,368)

-

(55,204,607)

(55,204,607)

(65,715,246)

(55,204,607)

(120,919,853)

64,980,887
141,268
142,115
3,331,012
68,595,282

50,753,088
18,446
(3,331,012)
47,440,522

64,980,887
50,753,088
159,714
142,115
116,035,804

2,880,036
112,050,756
114,930,792

(7,764,085)
182,132,497
174,368,412

(4,884,049)
294,183,253
289,299,204

$

$
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Jacksonville Transportation Authority

Governmental Funds
Balance Sheet
September 30, 2011

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Investments
Due from other funds
Due from other governments
Accounts receivable
Restricted assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Total assets
Liabilities and Fund Balances
Liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses
Due to other funds
Due to other governments
Deferred revenue
Total liabilities
Fund balances:
Spendable:
Restricted
Assigned
Unassigned
Total fund balances
Total liabilities and fund balances

Special
Revenue
Fund

General
Fund
$

36,222,650
30,155,413
20,746,337
15,846,721
9,167
102,980,288

$

$

$

See Notes to Financial Statements.
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$

$

7,759,625 $
54,536
14,358,961
19,866,615
42,039,737

394,757
488,529
54,536
937,822

4,497,547
17,078,400
597,175
13,567,289
35,740,411

84,100,000
17,942,466
102,042,466
102,980,288

6,299,326
6,299,326
42,039,737

$

Total
Governmental
Funds

$

$

$

43,982,275
30,155,413
20,800,873
30,205,682
9,167
19,866,615
145,020,025

4,892,304
488,529
17,132,936
597,175
13,567,289
36,678,233

6,299,326
84,100,000
17,942,466
108,341,792
145,020,025

Jacksonville Transportation Authority

Reconciliation of the Balance Sheet of Governmental
Funds to the Statement of Net Assets
September 30, 2011

Fund balances – total governmental funds
Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of net assets are
different because:
Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial resources and
therefore, are not reported in the funds.

$

13,635,321

Custodial assets held on behalf of other governments are not financial resources
and therefore, are not reported in the funds.

199,389,107

Net liabilities for other post-employment benefits resulting from underfunding
are not due and payable in the current period and, therefore, are not reported
in the funds

(264,000)

Deferred revenues are financial resources not available for use in current operations
and therefore, are not reported in the funds.

13,567,289

Long-term obligations related to custodial construction projects are not due
and payable in the current period and, therefore, are not reported in the funds
Long-term liabilities, including compensated absences, are not due and payable
in the current period and, therefore, are not reported in the funds
Net assets of governmental activities
See Notes to Financial Statements.
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108,341,792

(219,255,722)

$

(482,995)
114,930,792

Jacksonville Transportation Authority

Governmental Funds
Statement of Revenue, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances
Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2011
Special
Revenue
Fund

General
Fund
Revenue:
Intergovernmental:
Sales taxes
Federal and state grants
City of Jacksonville
Investment earnings
Miscellaneous
Total revenue

$

64,980,887
-

$

141,268
142,115
65,264,270

31,819
16,552,028
21,163
311,986
16,916,996

Total
Governmental
Funds

$

64,980,887
31,819
16,552,028
162,431
454,101
82,181,266

Expenditures:
Current:
General government
Highway planning
Transportation and infrastructure projects
Intergovernmental, on-behalf payments:
City of Jacksonville
State of Florida
Capital outlay
Total expenditures
Excess of revenue over expenditures

1,127,634
11,385
-

16,213,402

1,127,634
11,385
16,213,402

56,280,790
7,764,900
26,463
65,211,172
53,098

16,213,402
703,594

56,280,790
7,764,900
26,463
81,424,574
756,692

Other financing sources (uses):
Transfers in
Total other financing sources (uses)
Net change in fund balances
Fund balances, beginning of year
Fund balances, end of year

3,331,012
3,331,012
3,384,110
98,658,356
102,042,466

703,594
5,595,732
6,299,326

3,331,012
3,331,012
4,087,704
104,254,088
108,341,792

$

See Notes to Financial Statements.
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$

$

Jacksonville Transportation Authority

Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenue,
Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances of Governmental
Funds to the Statement of Activities
Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2011

Net change in fund balances, total governmental funds

$

4,087,704

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of activities are
different because:
Governmental funds report capital outlay as expenditures. However, in the
statement of activities the cost of those assets is allocated over their estimated
useful lives and reported as depreciation expense.
Acquisition of capital assets
Current year depreciation expense
Contribution of property to the State of Florida

26,463
(36,174)
(481,558)

Unfunded other post employment benefits ("OPEB") are recorded as an increase
in expenses and an increase in the net OPEB liability on the statement of net
assets and are not recorded in the fund financial statements.

(67,123)

Revenue earned but not available for use in current operations are not reported as
revenue recognized and are deferred in the fund financial statements.

(590,722)

Costs associated with transportation and infrastructure projects constructed
pursuant to agreements with the State of Florida and the City of Jacksonville
are held as custodial assets until such time as the projects are completed,
accepted and turned over to the State or City.

16,213,402

Revenue recognized in the current year to fund custodial projects being constructed
pursuant to agreements with the State of Florida and the City of Jacksonville
are reported as custodial projects due to other governments until such time as a
project is completed, accepted and turned over to the State or the City.

(16,326,274)

Some expenses reported in the statement of activities did not require the use of
current financial resources and therefore are not reported as expenditures in
governmental funds. These include decreases in the liability for compensated
absences.
Change in net assets of governmental activities
See Notes to Financial Statements.
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$

54,318
2,880,036

Jacksonville Transportation Authority

Proprietary Funds
Statement of Net Assets
September 30, 2011
Bus
Assets:
Current assets:
$
4,966,717
Cash and cash equivalents
590,539
Accounts receivable, net
2,886,991
Due from other funds
14,449,011
Due from other governments
2,327,150
Inventories
316,452
Prepaid expenses
Total current assets
25,536,860
Noncurrent assets:
7,131,715
Net pension asset
72,161,898
Capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation
Total noncurrent assets
79,293,613
Total assets
104,830,473

ASE

$

208,091
14,054
3,431,788
171,210
1,289,560
160,617
5,275,320

CTC

$

539,574
207,893
70,163
255,300
36,238
1,109,168

Totals

$

5,714,382
812,486
6,318,779
14,690,384
3,872,010
513,307
31,921,348

84,521,352
84,521,352
89,796,672

1,875,860
1,875,860
2,985,028

7,131,715
158,559,110
165,690,825
197,612,173

Liabilities:
Current Liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses
Due to other funds
Claims payable
Accrued compensated absences
Total current liabilities

7,442,577
1,007,482
6,545,650
1,795,506
94,778
16,885,993

244,328
39,190
307,053
19,299
14,987
624,857

364,484
51,497
3,134,013
19,775
16,061
3,585,830

8,051,389
1,098,169
9,986,716
1,834,580
125,826
21,096,680

Noncurrent Liabilities:
Claims payable
Accrued compensated absences
Total noncurrent liabilities
Total liabilities

1,292,110
379,112
1,671,222
18,557,215

173,693
59,949
233,642
858,499

177,975
64,242
242,217
3,828,047

1,643,778
503,303
2,147,081
23,243,761

Net assets:
Invested in capital assets
Unrestricted (deficit)
Total net assets (deficit)

72,161,898
14,111,360
86,273,258

84,521,352
4,416,821
88,938,173

1,875,860
(2,718,879)
(843,019)

158,559,110
15,809,302
$ 174,368,412

$

See Notes to Financial Statements.
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$

$

Jacksonville Transportation Authority

Statement of Revenue, Expenses and Changes in Fund Net Assets
Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2011
Bus
Operating revenues:
Passenger
Agency
Charter
Auxiliary transportation
Non-transportation
Total operating revenue
Operating expenses:
Labor
Fringe benefits
Materials and supplies
Services
Casualty and insurance
Taxes and licenses
Other
Depreciation expense
Total operating expenses

$

Operating loss
Nonoperating revenues
Public funding:
United States government
State of Florida
City of Jacksonville
Investment earnings
Total nonoperating revenues
Income (loss) before capital
contributions and transfers
Capital contributions
Transfers in
Transfers out
Change in net assets
Net assets, beginning of year
Net assets, end of year

$

9,322,933
158,866
319,077
391,213
10,192,089

ASE
$

187,302
101,667
288,969

CTC
$

565,505
10,334,562
10,900,067

Totals
$

10,075,740
10,334,562
158,866
319,077
492,880
21,381,125

24,224,061
12,395,014
10,985,927
16,408,691
475,440
116,148
3,339,906
7,750,200
75,695,387

1,866,466
950,385
1,029,501
622,715
464,469
852,184
6,627,168
12,412,888

2,351,184
949,978
2,691,355
7,712,420
16,613
50
403,893
985,638
15,111,131

28,441,711
14,295,377
14,706,783
24,743,826
956,522
116,198
4,595,983
15,363,006
103,219,406

(65,503,298)

(12,123,919)

(4,211,064)

(81,838,281)

6,445,332
3,970,538
49,634,481
14,656
60,065,007

1,000,000
1,009
1,001,009

757,840
1,118,607
2,781
1,879,228

8,203,172
3,970,538
50,753,088
18,446
62,945,244

(5,438,291)
12,658,111
(8,683,578)
(1,463,758)
87,737,016
86,273,258

(11,122,910)
901,997
4,045,097
(6,175,816)
95,113,989
$ 88,938,173

(2,331,836)
899,856
1,307,469
(124,511)
(718,508)
(843,019)

(18,893,037)
14,459,964
5,352,566
(8,683,578)
(7,764,085)
182,132,497
$ 174,368,412

See Notes to Financial Statements.
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$

Jacksonville Transportation Authority

Proprietary Funds
Statement of Cash Flows
Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2011
Bus
Cash Flows From Operating Activities
Receipts from customers
$ 10,248,935
Payments to suppliers
(30,960,141)
Payments to employees
(37,495,185)
Net cash used in operating activities
(58,206,391)
Cash Flows From Noncapital Financing Activities
Operating grants received
60,369,695
Receipts (payments) of interfund balances
2,676,588
Receipts (payments) of interfund advances
3,331,012
Transfers from other funds
Transfers (to) other funds
(8,683,578)
Net cash provided by noncapital
financing activities
57,693,717
Cash Flows From Capital and Related Financing Activities
Capital contributions
13,858,313
Acquisition and construction of capital assets
(9,049,835)
Net cash provided by capital and
related financing activities
4,808,478
Cash Flows From Investing Activities
Interest on investments
14,656
Net cash provided by investing activities
14,656
Net change in cash and cash equivalents
4,310,460
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year

$

656,257
4,966,717

(Continued)
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ASE
$

$

CTC

Totals

345,630
(3,054,399)
(2,804,328)
(5,513,097)

$ 10,888,665
(11,104,806)
(3,278,956)
(3,495,097)

1,000,000
(1,448,469)
4,045,097
-

2,576,245
(111,431)
1,307,469
-

63,945,940
1,116,688
3,331,012
5,352,566
(8,683,578)

3,596,628

3,772,283

65,062,628

2,437,492
(539,364)

1,126,214
(1,056,872)

17,422,019
(10,646,071)

1,898,128

69,342

6,775,948

1,009
1,009
(17,332)

2,781
2,781
349,309

18,446
18,446
4,642,437

225,423
208,091

$

190,265
539,574

$

$

21,483,230
(45,119,346)
(43,578,469)
(67,214,585)

1,071,945
5,714,382

Jacksonville Transportation Authority

Proprietary Funds
Statement of Cash Flows (Continued)
Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2011

Reconciliation of operating loss to net cash used in
operating activities:
Operating loss
Adjustments to reconcile operating loss to net cash
used in operating activities:
Depreciation
Loss on disposal of capital assets
(Increase) decrease in assets:
Accounts receivable
Inventory
Prepaid expenses
Net pension asset
Increase (decrease) in liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses
Accrued compensated absences
Claims payable
Net cash used in operating
activities

Bus

ASE

CTC

Totals

$ (65,503,298)

$ (12,123,919)

$ (4,211,064)

$ (81,838,281)

7,750,200
45,619

6,627,168
5,704

985,638
6,135

15,363,006
57,458

56,846
(337,689)
113,322
(1,022,182)

56,661
(80,191)
(2,173)
-

(11,402)
(45,671)
(9,584)
-

102,105
(463,551)
101,565
(1,022,182)

925,216
94,931
51,141
(380,497)

(8,120)
6,238
6,285
(750)

(240,105)
(1,147)
23,353
8,750

676,991
100,022
80,779
(372,497)

$ (58,206,391)

$ (5,513,097)

$ (3,495,097)

$ (67,214,585)

$

$

$

$

Noncash Capital and Financing Activities:
Accounts Payable for Capital Acquisitions

4,338,807

See Notes to Financial Statements.
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63,550

-

4,402,357

Jacksonville Transportation Authority

Statement of Fiduciary Net Assets
Pension Trust Fund
September 30, 2011
JTM Salaried
Employees

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Investments:
Mutual Funds
Government securities
Equity securities
Total assets

$

389,430
75,366
330,421
912,575
1,707,792

Liabilities

-

Net assets:
Held in trust for pension benefits

$

See Notes to Financial Statements.
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1,707,792

Jacksonville Transportation Authority

Fiduciary Funds
Statement of Changes in Net Assets
Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2011
JTM Salaried
Employees
Additions:
Employer contribution
Total contributions

$

Investment income
Net appreciation in fair value of investments
Net investment gain
Total
Deductions:
Benefit payments
Administrative expenses
Total
Net increase in plan net assets

137,194
137,194
33,851
96,976
130,827
268,021
10,742
4,303
15,045
252,976

Net assets held in trust for pension benefits, beginning of year
Net assets held in trust for pension benefits, end of year
See Notes to Financial Statements.
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$

1,454,816
1,707,792

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK

24

Jacksonville Transportation Authority
Notes to Financial Statements
Note 1.

Reporting Entity

Established by the Florida Legislature in 1955, the Jacksonville Transportation Authority (the “Authority”) is a public
body and corporate agency of the State of Florida under Chapter 349, as amended, Florida Statutes. The Authority
is empowered to acquire, construct, operate and lease a mass transit system; it may plan, coordinate and
recommend methods and facilities for the parking of vehicles and the movement of pedestrians and vehicular traffic;
and it may issue evidences of indebtedness and secure payment thereof by pledge of its revenues.
It is also empowered to construct, improve, operate and lease the Jacksonville Expressway System and
improvements thereto, to fix and collect rates, rentals and other charges for the services and facilities of such system;
and to secure bonds by a pledge of such revenues and all or part of Duval County gasoline tax and sales tax funds
pursuant to a Lease-Purchase Agreement between the Authority and the State of Florida Department of
Transportation (“FDOT”). The FDOT maintains responsibility for the operation of the Expressway System with the
exception of certain contract maintenance functions.
In fiscal year 2000, the Authority entered into an Interlocal Agreement (“ILA”) with the City of Jacksonville for the
purpose of constructing the roadway and infrastructure projects of the Better Jacksonville Plan (the “Plan”),as defined
in the ILA. Pursuant to this agreement, the Authority pledged its Sales Tax and the City pledged its Constitutional
Gas Tax to the payment of bonds issued by the City to implement the Program (the “Bonds”). The Bonds are an
obligation of the City and there is no guarantee by the Authority or any Authority revenues or assets pledged for such
bonds. The ILA commenced on October 1, 2000 and continues in effect until all of the Bonds have been duly paid in
full or defeased in accordance with their terms. The terms of the ILA also require that the City make available its
Local Option Gas Tax to the Authority for the Authority’s operation of its mass transit division. Any excess funds
calculated pursuant to the terms of the ILA (as amended) will be allocated entirely to the Authority. The Authority
may use these funds for any lawful purpose.
As the Authority receives economic resources almost entirely for the direct benefit of the constituents of the City of
Jacksonville, Florida (the “City”), the Authority is deemed to be a component unit of the City under Governmental
Standards Board Statement No. 14, The Financial Reporting Entity. The Authority’s governing body has seven
members. Three members are appointed by the Governor and confirmed by the Senate; three members are
appointed by the City’s Mayor and confirmed by the City Council; and the seventh member is the District Two
Secretary of the Florida Department of Transportation.
As required by generally accepted accounting principles, these financial statements present the Authority and its
component units, entities for which the Authority is considered to be financially accountable. Blended component
units, although legally separate entities are, in substance, part of the Authority’s operation and so data from these
units are combined with data of the primary government.
Blended Component Unit: Jacksonville Transit Management, Inc. (“JTM”) is a for profit, corporate entity
responsible for the management of payroll and related benefits for drivers, mechanics and certain other employees
who support the enterprise activities of the Authority. The Authority owns all of the stock of JTM, members of JTM’s
board of directors are appointed by the Authority and services are exclusively provided to JTA. The transactions of
JTM are blended with the primary government (the Authority) and are included in the expenses of the Authority’s
enterprise funds.
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Jacksonville Transportation Authority
Notes to Financial Statements
Note 2.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

The basic financial statements include both government-wide and fund level statements. The government-wide
statements report on all of the non-fiduciary activities of the Authority. Both the government-wide and fund level
statements classify primary activities of the Authority as either governmental activities, which are primarily supported
by taxes and intergovernmental revenues, or business-type activities, which are partially supported by user fees and
charges.
The government-wide statement of net assets reports all assets and liabilities of the Authority, including both longterm assets and long-term debt and other obligations. Net asset, the difference between assets and liabilities, are
subdivided into three categories: amounts invested in capital assets, net of related debt; restricted net assets; and
unrestricted net assets. Net assets are reported as restricted when constraints are imposed on the use of the
amounts either externally by creditors, grantors, contributors, or laws and regulations of other governments, or by law
through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation.
The statement of activities reports the degree to which direct expenses of Authority functions are offset by program
revenues. Program revenues consist of charges for services, operating grants and contributions and capital grants
and contributions. Charges for services refer to amounts received from those who purchase, use or directly benefit
from goods, services or privileges provided by a given function or segment. Grants and contributions consist of
revenues that are restricted to meeting the operational or capital requirements of a particular function. Direct
expenses are those that are clearly identifiable with a specific function or program. The net cost of these programs is
funded from general revenues such as taxes, unrestricted intergovernmental revenue and investment earnings.
The fund level statements report on governmental, proprietary and fiduciary activities, even though the latter are
excluded from the government-wide financial statements. Major individual governmental funds and major individual
enterprise funds are reported as separate columns in the fund level financial statements. Since the fund level
statements for governmental activities are presented using a different measurement focus and basis of accounting
than the government-wide statements’ governmental column (as discussed under Basis of Accounting in this
summary of significant accounting policies), a reconciliation is presented on the page following each fund level
statement which briefly explains the adjustments necessary to convert the fund level statements into the governmentwide governmental column presentations.
As a general rule, the effect of interfund activity has been eliminated from the government-wide financial statements.
An exception to this is the Bus Fund’s payments to the Community Transportation Coordinator (“CTC”) Fund in the
amount of $9,107,743 for services provided to the transportation disadvantaged. Elimination of these charges would
distort the direct costs and program revenues reported for these funds.
The Authority’s policy is to use restricted resources first, then unrestricted resources, when both are available for use
to fund an activity.
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Jacksonville Transportation Authority
Notes to Financial Statements
Note 2.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Fund Structure
The Authority’s accounts are maintained in accordance with the principles of fund accounting to ensure compliance
with limitations and restrictions placed on the use of resources available to it. Under fund accounting, individual
funds are established for the purpose of carrying on activities or attaining objectives in accordance with specific
regulations, restrictions or limitations. Each individual fund is a self-balancing set of accounts recording assets,
liabilities, revenues and expenditures/expenses and fund equity. For financial statement presentation, funds with
similar characteristics are grouped into generic classifications as required by accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America. A brief description of these classifications follows:
Governmental Funds. These funds report transactions related to resources received and used for those services
traditionally provided by governmental agencies. The following are major governmental funds used by the Authority:
General Fund – The General Fund is the general operating fund of the Authority. It is used to account for all
financial resources except those required to be accounted for in another fund.
Special Revenue Fund – The Special Revenue Fund receives money from other governmental agencies,
primarily the State of Florida (the “State”) and the City of Jacksonville (the “City”), to fund major capital
improvement projects for those respective governments. Upon completion, ownership of the assets constructed
(the accumulated costs of such assets) is transferred to the State or City.
Proprietary Funds. These funds are used to account for the financing of services to the public on a continuing basis
with costs recovered partially through user charges. Major proprietary funds include:
Bus – Bus Fund is used to account for the operation of the Authority’s bus services. Operating revenue is
provided through passenger fares.
ASE – Automated Skyway Express Fund is used to account for the Authority’s local train service. Operating
revenue is provided through passenger fares.
CTC – Community Transportation Coordinator Fund is used to account for paratransit service for disabled and
transportation for disadvantaged riders. Operating revenue is provided through governmental grants and other
sources.
As provided by GASB Statement No. 20, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Proprietary Funds and Other
Governmental Entities that Use Proprietary Fund Accounting, the Authority has elected not to adopt any Financial
Accounting Standards Board statements issued after November 30, 1989 unless so directed by the GASB.
Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenue and expenses from nonoperating revenues and expenses.
Operating revenues and expenses generally result from providing services and producing and delivering goods in
connection with the funds’ principal ongoing operation.
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Jacksonville Transportation Authority
Notes to Financial Statements
Note 2.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

The principal operating revenues for the Authority’s enterprise funds are charges to customers for sales and services.
Because the rate structure of these funds is not sufficient to generate revenues to fully fund operating expenses or to
fund acquisition, replacement and future expansion of property and equipment, the Authority is compelled to seek
contributions-in-aid from local, state and federal sources, which are reported as nonoperating revenues. Operating
expenses include direct expenses of providing the goods or services, administrative expenses and depreciation on
capital assets. All revenues and expenses not meeting this definition are reported as nonoperating revenues and
expenses.
The following is a summary of the significant accounting policies applicable to the Authority:
Basis of accounting: The accounting and financial reporting treatment applied to a fund is determined by its
measurement focus. The government-wide, proprietary fund and fiduciary fund financial statements are reported
using the economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting. Under this method,
revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded when a liability is incurred, regardless of the
timing of the related cash flows. Grants and similar items are recognized as revenue when all eligibility
requirements imposed by the provider are met.
Governmental fund financial statements are reported using a current financial resources measurement focus and
the modified accrual basis of accounting. With this measurement focus, only current assets and current liabilities
generally are included on the balance sheet. Operating statements of these funds present increases (i.e.
revenues and other financing sources) and decreases (i.e. expenditures and other financing uses) in net current
assets.
Under the modified accrual basis of accounting, revenues are recognized when susceptible to accrual (i.e. when
they become both measurable and available). “Measurable” means the amount of the transaction can be
determined and “available” means collectible within the current period or soon enough thereafter to be used to
pay liabilities of the current period. Generally, the Authority considers a 90 day availability period for revenue
recognition.
Major revenues that are determined to be susceptible to accrual include intergovernmental revenue when
eligibility requirements are met, charges for services and investment income.
Expenditures of governmental funds are generally recorded when a liability is incurred, as under accrual
accounting. However, expenditures related to compensated absences and claims and judgments, are recorded
only when payment is due. Expenditures related to pensions and OPEB are recognized when the Authority has
made a decision to fund those obligations with current available resources.
Cash and cash equivalents: For purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents includes
bank demand accounts, money market funds and investments with an original maturity of three months or less
when purchased.
Investments: Investments with a maturity date greater than one year from the purchase date are reported at fair
value as determined by quoted market prices, and investments with a maturity date less than one year from the
purchase date are reported at amortized cost, which approximates fair value. Investments held by the Florida
Treasury Investment Pool are recorded at amortized cost.
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Jacksonville Transportation Authority
Notes to Financial Statements
Note 2.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Accounts receivable: Customer accounts receivable consist of amounts owed from private individuals,
organizations or agencies of the government for services. The allowance method is used to account for bad debt
expense. All accounts receivable balances are shown net of the allowance for uncollectibles. The allowance is
based on management’s estimates using historical experience. The allowance for doubtful accounts amounted to
$284,980 for the Bus fund at September 30, 2011.
Inventory and prepaid items: Inventory consists of materials and supplies and is carried using the average cost
method. Certain payments to vendors reflect costs applicable to future accounting periods and are recorded as
prepaid items in both government-wide and proprietary fund financial statements.
Custodial assets / custodial liabilities: Custodial assets consist of cash and cash equivalents and costs of
infrastructure assets currently under construction for the benefit of the State of Florida and the City of
Jacksonville. After completion, the City or State, as appropriate, is responsible for maintaining the assets.
Therefore, the Authority transfers such assets upon completion of the related construction project.
These assets are reported as custodial assets on the government-wide statement of net assets because title of
such assets does not transfer until such time as the project is completed and accepted by the State or the City, as
appropriate.
As these assets are being held in an agency-like capacity by the Authority, the revenues associated with the
funding of these projects are reported as amounts due to other governments (liabilities) on the government-wide
statement of net assets, reflecting the Authority’s obligation to the State or City.
Capital assets: Capital assets are valued at historical cost and are defined as assets with an initial individual cost
of more than $3,000 and an estimated useful life exceeding one year.
The cost of improvements and replacements, which extend the useful lives of assets, are capitalized. Repairs
and maintenance costs, which do not improve or extend the useful life of the respective assets, are charged to
expense. Depreciation commences when the assets are placed in service. Property and equipment is
depreciated by the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

Years
15
15 – 40
5 – 25
3 – 10
3 – 10

Land improvements
Buildings and improvements
Vehicles
Furniture and office equipment
Other equipment

As of September 30, 2010, there were no infrastructure assets.
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Compensated absences: Employees accrue personal leave, or compensated absences, by prescribed formula
based on length of service. All compensated absences are accrued when incurred in the government-wide and
proprietary fund financial statements as accrued liabilities. A liability for these amounts is reported in the
governmental funds only if they have matured, for example, as a result of employee resignations and retirements.
The value of accumulated benefits earned by employees, that may be used in subsequent years or paid upon
termination or retirement, is recorded as long-term debt in the government-wide statements. The current portion
of this debt is estimated based on historical trends.
Unearned / deferred revenues: Resources that do not meet revenue recognition requirements (not earned) are
recorded as unearned revenue in the government-wide and fund financial statements. In addition, amounts
related to governmental fund receivables that are measurable, but not available, are recorded as deferred
revenue in the governmental fund financial statements.
Claims liability: Provision for injury and damage losses are charged to operations based on the estimated
ultimate cost of settling incurred claims and incurred but not reported claims using past experience adjusted for
current trends.
Restricted assets: Certain assets of the Authority’s governmental and proprietary funds are classified as
restricted assts on the financial statements because their use is limited to the construction of capital assets or
custodial assets through loan covenants, grants and other legal restrictions.
Net assets and fund equity: In the government-wide financial statements and in the proprietary fund statements,
net assets are classified in the following categories:
Invested in Capital Assets – This category groups all capital assets, including infrastructure, into one
component of net assets. Accumulated depreciation and the outstanding balances of debt that is
attributable to the acquisition, construction or improvement of these assets, if any, reduce this category.
Restricted Net Assets – This category represents the net assets of the Authority, which are restricted by
creditors, grantors, or laws and regulations or legally enforceable enabling legislation which a party external
to the Authority (such as citizens, public interest groups, or the judiciary) can compel the Authority to honor.
Unrestricted Net Assets – This category represents the net assets of the Authority, which are not restricted
for any project or other purpose.
In fiscal year 2011, the Authority implemented Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement 54 which
establishes fund balance classifications that comprise a hierarchy based primarily on the extent to which a
government is bound to observe constraints imposed upon the use of the resources reported in governmental funds.
Fund balance classifications, under GASB 54, are Non-spendable, Restricted, Committed, Assigned, and
Unassigned. These classifications reflect not only the nature of funds, but also provide clarity as to the level of
restriction placed upon fund balance. Fund Balance can have different levels of restraint, such as external versus
internal compliance requirements. Unassigned fund balance is a residual classification within the general fund. The
general fund should be the only fund that reports a positive unassigned balance. In all other funds, unassigned is
limited to negative residual fund balance. For further details of the various fund balance classifications refer to
Note 13.
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At September 30, 2011, the CTC Fund reported an unrestricted fund deficit of $843,019 attributable to the
increasing costs of providing these specialized transportation services. The Authority will continue to monitor the
operations of the CTC Fund and pursue additional funding options to support these services.
Use of estimates: The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions, such as
provision for uninsured losses, that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and
expenses during the period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.
Note 3.

Deposits and Investments

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Custodial credit risk – deposits. In the case of deposits, this is the risk that in the event of a bank failure, the
Authority’s deposits may not be returned to it. The Authority’s policy to address custodial credit risk requires the
Authority to maintain all deposits in qualified public depositories as defined in Chapter 280.02, Florida Statutes.
Deposits whose value exceeds the limits of federal depository insurance are entirely insured or collateralized
pursuant to Florida Statues, Chapter 280, Florida Security for Public Deposits Act (the “Act”). Under this Act,
financial institutions which are qualified as public depositories place with the State Board of Administration, securities
which have a market value equal to 50% of the average daily balance for each month of all public deposits in excess
of applicable deposit insurance. The Public Deposit Security Trust Funds have a procedure to allocate and recover
losses in the event of default or insolvency. When public deposits are made in accordance with Chapter 280, no
public depositor shall be liable for any loss thereof. At September 30, 2011, the Authority’s demand deposits with
banks were $71,501,240 and its reported balances were $69,538,612.
Investments
The Authority’s Board approved its written investment policy on June 28, 2007. The policy complies with Florida
Statute 218. The investment policy authorizes the following investments: Money market mutual funds, Florida Local
Government Surplus Funds Trust Funds, United States Government Securities, Federal Instrumentalities United
States Government Agencies, interest bearing time deposits or savings accounts, repurchase agreements,
commercial paper of a high rating A-1 P-1 as provided by one of the nationally recognized rating agencies, Standard
& Poor’s corporation (S & P) or Moody’s, fixed income mutual funds, and intergovernmental investment pools that are
authorized pursuant to the Florida Interlocal Cooperative Act. The policy also provides limits on individual issuers
and rating requirement standards. Outside portfolio managers must review the portfolios they manage to ensure
compliance with the Authority’s diversification guidelines on an ongoing basis.
Investments are recorded at fair value (quoted market price or the best available estimate thereof), with the exception
of the investments held by the Florida Treasury Investment Pool. The investments held by the Florida Treasury
Investment Pool are recorded at amortized cost, which is consistent with the treatment of “2a-7 like” pool securities.
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Interest rate risk. Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in market interest rates will adversely affect the fair value
of an investment. Generally, the longer the maturity of an investment, the greater the sensitivity of its fair value to
changes in market interest rates. The Authority does not have a formal investment policy that limits investment
maturities as a means of managing their exposure to fair value losses arising from increasing interest rates. As of
September 30, 2011, the Authority had the following debt-type investments and maturities:

Investment Type
Money Market Mutual Fund
Federal Agency Bonds / Notes
U.S. Treasury Bills / Notes
Commercial Paper

Less Than
1 Year
$ 1,751,493
4,275,160
3,255,743
2,998,608
$ 12,281,004

Remaining Maturity (in Years)
1–5
6 – 10
More Than
Years
Years
10 Years
$
$
$
8,806,800
9,067,609
$ 17,874,409 $
$
-

Fair
Value
$ 1,751,493
13,081,960
12,323,352
2,998,608
$ 30,155,413

Credit risk. Credit risk is the risk that an issuer or other counterparty to an investment will not fulfill its obligations.
As a means of limiting its exposure to credit risk, the Authority’s policy is to strictly limit its investments in permitted
investment vehicles authorized by the policy, which are generally recognized as elements of a conservative
investment portfolio that carries minimal credit risk exposure. U.S. Government securities are backed by the full faith
and credit of the U.S. Government, therefore a credit rating is not assigned. The Authority’s investments are rated as
follows:
Investment Type
Money Market Mutual Fund
Federal Agency Bonds / Notes
Commercial Paper
U.S. Treasury Bills / Notes

Rating
AAA
AA+
A1 - A1+
TSY
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Custodial credit risk. For an investment, custodial credit risk is the risk that, in the event of the failure of the
counterparty, the government will not be able to recover the value of its investments or collateral securities that are in
the possession of an outside party. The Authority’s investment policy requires securities be held by a third party
custodian and be properly designated as an asset of the Authority and held in the Authority’s name. As of
September 30, 2011, the Authority’s investments were held with a third-party custodian as required by the Authority’s
investment policy.
Concentration of credit risk. The investment policy authorizes the following maximum permissible concentrations
based on book values: United States Government Agencies (50%), interest bearing time deposits or savings
accounts (30%), repurchase agreements (20%), commercial paper (25%) of a high rating A-1 P-1 as provided by one
of the nationally recognized rating agencies, Standard & Poor’s corporation (S & P) or Moody’s, fixed income mutual
funds (75%), and intergovernmental investment pools (25%) that are authorized pursuant to the Florida Interlocal
Cooperative Act. The policy further allows that 100% of the portfolio can be comprised of any of the following
instruments: money markets mutual funds, Florida Local Government Surplus Funds Trust Funds, United States
Government Securities and Federal Instrumentalities. Debt securities that represent more than 5% of the Authority’s
investments are listed below:
Reported
Amount
$ 2,998,608
12,323,352
2,763,310
3,013,710
4,781,640
2,523,300
$ 28,403,920

Issuer
Commercial Paper
U.S. Treasury Bills / Notes
Federal Home Loan Mortage Corp
Federal National Mortgage Assoc.
Federal Home Loan Banks
Federal Farm Credit Banks
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Portfolio
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Capital asset activity for the year ended September 30, 2011 was as follows:

Beginning
Balance

Governmental activities:
Capital assets, not being depreciated:
Land
Total capital assets,
not being depreciated

$

13,993,995

$

13,993,995

Capital assets, being depreciated:
Land improvements
Buildings and improvements
Vehicles
Furniture and office equipment
Total capital assets,
being depreciated
Less accumulated depreciation for:
Land improvements
Buildings and improvements
Vehicles
Furniture and office equipment
Total accumulated
depreciation
Total capital assets,
being depreciated, net
Governmental activities
capital assets, net

Increases

$

-

Ending
Balance

Decreases

$

-

481,558

$

481,558

13,512,437
13,512,437

24,120
373,748
155,058
590,471

18,685
7,778

-

24,120
373,748
173,743
598,249

1,143,397

26,463

-

1,169,860

24,120
321,406
115,355
549,921

5,095
13,848
17,231

-

24,120
326,501
129,203
567,152

1,010,802

36,174

-

1,046,976

132,595

(9,711)

-

122,884

14,126,590

$

(9,711)

$

481,558

$

13,635,321

$

35,812
362
36,174

Depreciation expense was charged to functions/programs of the primary government as follows:

Governmental activities:
General government
Highway planning and construction

$
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The following is a schedule of changes in capital assets of the enterprise funds for the year ended September 30,
2011:

Beginning
Balance
Business-type activities:
Capital assets, not being depreciated:
Land
Construction in progress
Total capital assets,
not being depreciated
Capital assets, being depreciated:
Land improvements
Buildings and improvements
Vehicles
Furniture and office equipment
Other equipment
Total capital assets,
being depreciated
Less accumulated depreciation for:
Land improvements
Buildings and improvements
Vehicles
Furniture and office equipment
Other equipment
Total accumulated
depreciation
Total capital assets,
being depreciated, net
Business-type activities
capital assets, net

$

Increases

23,240,178
6,136,433

$

11,908,239

Ending
Balance

Decreases

$

4,718,011

$

23,240,178
13,326,661

29,376,611

11,908,239

4,718,011

36,566,839

17,097,464
128,413,308
91,637,611
3,473,574
75,912,489

336,562
616,765
3,897,581
39,063
2,073,314

1,133,963
112,666
5,253,482
155,719
1,136,253

16,300,063
128,917,407
90,281,710
3,356,918
76,849,550

316,534,446

6,963,285

7,792,083

315,705,648

10,649,368
57,814,936
50,207,628
2,475,420
64,937,650

1,296,098
3,033,575
5,988,225
236,892
4,808,216

1,133,963
111,173
5,202,087
153,930
1,133,478

10,811,503
60,737,338
50,993,766
2,558,382
68,612,388

186,085,002

15,363,006

7,734,631

193,713,377

130,449,444

(8,399,721)

57,452

121,992,271

4,775,463

$ 158,559,110

$ 159,826,055

$

3,508,518

$

Depreciation expense for the year ended September 30, 2011 amounted to:

Bus Services
Automated Skyway Express
Transportation Disadvantaged
Total depreciation expense

$

$
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The following is a schedule of changes in custodial construction projects until completion, acceptance and transfer of
title for the year ended September 30, 2011:

Custodial assets –
construction projects

Beginning
Balance

Current Year
Project Costs

Completed
Projects

Ending
Balance

$ 315,648,917

$ 16,213,402

$ 132,473,212

$ 199,389,107

A schedule of the obligation to other governments associated with the funding of these projects until completion,
acceptance and transfer of title for the year ended September 30, 2011 follows:

Custodial projects –
due to other governments

Note 6.

Beginning
Balance

Current Year
Funding

Completed
Projects

Ending
Balance

$ 335,402,660

$ 16,326,274

$ 132,473,212

$ 219,255,722

Interfund Balances and Transfers

During the normal course of operations, numerous transactions occur between funds. Activity between funds that
are representative of lending/borrowing arrangements outstanding at the end of the fiscal year are referred to as
either due to or due from other funds.
The following is a schedule of interfund balances at September 30, 2011:
Due To
General
Fund
Due From
General Fund
Special Revenue Fund
Enterprise Fund – Bus
Enterprise Fund – ASE
Enterprise Fund – CTC

$

$

17,078,400
3,113,862
307,053
247,022
20,746,337

Special
Revenue Fund
$

$

54,536
54,536

ASE Fund

Bus Fund
$

$

2,886,991
2,886,991

$

$

Total
-

3,431,788
3,431,788

$

$

54,536
17,078,400
6,545,650
307,053
3,134,013
27,119,652

The outstanding balances between funds result mainly from the time lag between the dates that reimbursable
expenses occur, transactions are recorded in the accounting system, and payments between funds are made.
These balances also include the amount of working capital loans made that are expected to be collected in the
subsequent year.
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Transfers of net resources from a fund receiving revenue to a fund in which the resources are to be expended are
recorded as operating transfers.
Transfer To
General
Fund
Transfer From
Enterprise Fund – Bus
$

ASE Fund

3,331,012
3,331,012

$

CTC Fund

4,045,097
4,045,097

1,307,469
1,307,469

$

Total
8,683,578
8,683,578

$

The interfund transfers were made in the normal course of operations and are consistent with the activities of the
fund making the transfer.
Note 7.

Noncurrent Liabilities

Accrued compensated absences at September 30, 2011 consisted of the following:

Beginning
Balance

Additions

Governmental activities:
Compensated absences

$

537,313

$

Business-type activities:
Compensated absences

$

545,577

$ 1,981,719

Note 8.

29,998

Ending
Balance

Reductions
$

Due Within
One Year

84,316

$

482,995

$

156,542

$ 1,898,167

$

629,129

$

125,826

Risk Management

The Authority is exposed to various risks of loss related to injury and damage claims arising from operations. The
Authority is self-insured for general liability and automobile liability and purchases excess commercial insurance
beyond the self-insured retention. The Authority purchases commercial insurance for group health insurance,
workers compensation, and destruction of property.
Claim liabilities include an amount for known claims and claims that have been incurred but not reported (“IBNRs”)
for which a loss is probable. Claim liabilities are calculated considering the effects of inflation, recent claim
settlement trends including frequency and amount of payouts and other economic and social factors. The liability is
reported in the Enterprise Funds. During fiscal year 2011, individual claims in excess of $100,000 and $200,000 per
occurrence were subject to the Florida Sovereign Immunity Law. Subsequent to year end, these amounts were
increased to $200,000 and $300,000 per occurrence.
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Changes in the estimated liability for the self-insurance program consisted of the following:

Fiscal Year Ended
September 30,
2010
2011

Note 9.

$

Beginning
Balance
2,826,704

$

3,850,855

Current Year
Claims and
Changes in
Estimates
$
1,715,000
$

341,250

$

Claims
Paid
(690,849)

$

Ending
Balance
3,850,855

$

(713,747)

$

3,478,358

Commitments and Contingencies

Construction commitments: The Authority as a whole had construction and construction-related commitments related
to the Custodial Assets discussed at Note 5 amounting to approximately $12.5 million at September 30, 2011.
Better Jacksonville Plan: As of October 1, 2000, the Authority and the City of Jacksonville entered into an Interlocal
Agreement (“ILA”) for the purpose of constructing roadway projects as defined in the Better Jacksonville Plan. As of
the effective date of the ILA, the Authority pledged its Duval County sales tax revenues to pay the debt service on
transportation revenue bonds issued by the City of Jacksonville to fund such roadway projects under the Better
Jacksonville Plan. All such bonds are revenue obligations, secured solely by the Transportation Discretionary Sales
Surtax and Constitutional Gas Taxes collected in Duval County, and there is no guarantee by the Authority or any
other Authority revenues or assets pledged for such bonds.
Grant funding: Federal and State grant awards are audited in accordance with the requirements of OMB Circular A133 and the Single Audit Act of 1984, and the Florida Single Audit Act. These grant awards are subject to audit by
the respective grantor agencies. It is management’s opinion that no material liabilities will result from any such
grantor audits.
Union contracts: At September 30, 2011, the Authority employed a total of 699 employees. 67% or 470 of the
Authority’s employees are covered under union contracts. The Amalgamated Transit Local Union No. 1197 covers
bus operators. Its three-year contract, representing 332 employees, expires October 25, 2014.
Additionally, 138 mechanics and utility employees operate under a contract with the International Association of
Machinists and Aerospace Workers Local Union No. 759. This three-year contract, which expired on November 2,
2008, has been renewed until November 6, 2011. Its new three year contract is effective November 7, 2011 through
November 6, 2014.
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Pension Plan of the Primary Government. The administrative employees of the Authority participate in the Florida
Retirement System (the “FRS”) defined benefit pension plan, a cost-sharing multiple-employer public employee
retirement system administered by the State of Florida Department of Administration, Division of Retirement, to
provide retirement and survivor benefits to participating public employees. Chapter 121, Florida Statutes, establishes
the Authority for participant eligibility, contribution requirements, vesting eligibility and benefit provisions.
Benefits are determined by category and length of service as follows:
July 1, 2011
Employer
Contribution
Rate
4.91%

July 1, 2010
Employer
Contribution
Rate
10.77%

Membership Category
Regular

Benefit
1.6% times years of service times
average compensation (5 highest)
years) if age 62 or 30 years of
services at any age.

Vesting
Choice:
Pension – after 6 years
of creditable service,
or
Investment – after 1
year of creditable service.

Senior Management

2.0% times years of service
times average compensation (5
highest years) if age 62 or
30 years of services at any age.

Choice:
Pension – after 6 years
of creditable service,
or
Investment – after 1
year of creditable service.

6.27%

14.57%

Subject to normal system
vesting provision for
membership category.

4.42%

12.25%

Accumulated FRS benefits earn
Deferred Retirement
Option Program ("DROP") 6.50% effective annual interest
compounded monthly for a period
up to 60 months after becoming
vested, having reached normal
retirement date, and remaining
employed.

All of the above employer contribution rates include 1.11% for a post-retirement health insurance subsidy. The
Regular and Senior Management rates also include .05% for an administrative fee and .08% for an educational fee.
Participating employer contributions are based upon actuarially determined state-wide rates established by the State
of Florida, that expressed as percentages of annual covered payroll are adequate to accumulate sufficient assets to
pay benefits when due. Employee contribution rates are 3% for regular employees and senior management. There is
no employee contribution for employees enrolled in DROP.
The payments made to the FRS in the year ended September 30, 2011, 2010 and 2009 were $549,481, $1,038,685
and $1,025,324, respectively, which were equal to the required contributions for each year.
The System issues a publicly available financial report that includes financial statements and required supplementary
information for the plan. That report may be obtained by writing to the Division of Retirement, 2639 North Monroe
Street, Building C, Tallahassee, Florida 32399-1560.
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Pension Plans of Jax Transit Management Corp. (“JTM”). JTM (a component unit) maintains two single-employer
defined benefit pension plans, which cover general (salaried) employees and bus operators for the Authority’s
enterprise activities. Contributions are also made to a multi-employer defined benefit pension plan for the JTM
employees (mechanics) represented by the International Association of Machinists union.
International Association of Machinists (“IAM”) Pension Plan
Mechanics and other technicians whose job classification is within the bargaining unit represented by the
International Association of Machinists (“IAM”) union participate in the IAM defined benefit pension plan, a costsharing multiple-employer retirement plan administered by the union to provide retirement and survivor benefits to
participating employees. The plan documents for the IAM National Pension Fund establish the authority for
participant eligibility, contribution requirements, vesting eligibility and benefit provisions.
Benefits are determined by category and length of service as follows

Membership Category
Regular

Retirement Benefit
$41 per month multiplied by the
number of years of creditable service

Vesting
After 5 years of
creditable service

January 1, 2011 January 1, 2010
Employer
Employer
Contribution
Contribution
Rate
Rate
$3.45 per hour $3.45 per hour

Participating employer contributions are based upon the collective bargaining agreement in effect, that expressed as
an hourly rate, are adequate to accumulate sufficient assets to pay benefits when due. No employee contributions
are required.
The payments made to the IAM plan in the year ended September 30, 2011, 2010 and 2009 were $950,185,
$953,658 and $1,006,026, respectively, which were equal to the required contributions for each year.
Defined Benefit Pension Plans Sponsored by Jax Transit Management Corp.
Plan Descriptions – The Authority contributes to the Jax Transit Management Corp. (“JTM”) Retirement Plan for
Salaried Employees, a single-employer defined benefit plan which covers all salaried employees on JTM’s payroll
whose job classifications are not represented by unions. The Salaried Employees plan was established by JTM on
January 1, 1963. A committee comprised of three JTM employees administers the Salaried Employees Plan.
The Authority also contributes to the Amalgamated Jax Transit Management, Corp. Pension-Disability Plan
(“Drivers”), a single-employer defined benefit plan which covers all full and part-time bus operators on JTM’s payroll
whose job classification is within the bargaining unit represented by the Amalgamated Transit Union Local 1197. The
Drivers Plan was established on May 1, 1964 by JTM. The plan is administered by a six-member Board of Control.
The Authority has no fiduciary responsibility for the plan assets of the Drivers plan, thus the net assets of this plan
are not reported as a pension trust fund.
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As of January 1, 2011, employee membership data related to these plans was as follows:

Salaried
Employees

Drivers Plan

1
5
10
11
27

83
261
149
130
623

Active employees:
Nonvested
Partially vested
Fully vested
Retirees and beneficiaries currently receiving benefits
Terminated plan members entitled to but not yet receiving benefits
Total

The following is a summary of funding policies, contribution methods and benefit provisions:
Salaried Employees

Drivers Plan

Determination of contribution requirements

Actuarially determined

Employer

Paid quarterly

Funding of administrative costs
Period required to vest
Postretirement benefit increases
Eligibility for distribution

Paid by JTM
6 years
Not applicable
Normal retirement date = Age 65
and 5 years participation; Early
retirement date = Age 55 and 5
years of participation

Paid by plan assets
5 years
Not applicable
Latter of attainment of age 65 and 5
years of participation or attainment
of age 62 and 20 plan years of
service or any age with 30 plan
years of service

Benefit provisions

1.5% average monthly
compensation multiplied by total
years of service (up to 60 years)

$48 per month multiplied by years of
service limited to 30 years
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Contracted pursuant to union
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Funding policies – The following table provides information concerning funding policies:
Salaried Employees
Valuation date
Actuarial cost method
Amortization period
Actuarial asset valuation method
Actuarial assumptions:
Assumed rate of return on investments
Projected salary increases
Postretirement benefit increases (maximum)
Inflation

Drivers Plan

January 1, 2010
Entry age normal
10 years
Market value

January 1, 2010
Entry age normal
10 years
Market value

6% per annum
Assumed 4% per year
None
None

8% per annum
None
None
None

Salaried Plan – The Salaried Plan’s funding policy provides for periodic employer contributions at actuarially
determined rates that, expressed as percentage of annual covered payroll, are sufficient to accumulate sufficient
assets to pay benefits when due. Level percentages of payroll contribution rates are determined using the modified
unit credit method. Significant actuarial assumptions used to compute contribution requirements are the same as
those used to compute the pension benefit obligation described above. Unfunded actuarial accrued liability is
amortized over 7 years.
Annual Pension Cost and Net Pension Liability: The following table shows the components of the Authority’s annual
pension cost, amount actually contributed and changes in the net pension obligation for the year. The following table
shows the components of the Authority’s annual pension cost for the year, the amount contributed to the plan, and
changes in the Authority’s net pension obligation:

Annual required contribution
Annual pension cost
Contributions made
Change in net pension obligation (asset)
Net pension obligation (asset), beginning of year
Net pension obligation (asset), end of year

$

$

185,560
185,560
(137,194)
48,366
48,366

Annual pension cost and contribution information for the last three fiscal years follows:

Fiscal
Year
Ending
9/30/11
9/30/10
9/30/09

Actuarially
Determined
Contribution
$
185,560
$
139,263
$
133,659
42

Percentage
of APC
Contributed
74%
102%
109%

Net
Pension
Obligation
48,366
(10,754)
(22,941)
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Funding progress as of September 30, 2011 is as follows:

Actuarial
Valuation
Date
01/01/10

Actuarial
Value of
Assets
$

1,707,792

Actuarial
Accrued Liability
(AAL)

Unfunded
AAL (UAAL)

$

$

2,123,564

415,772

Funded
Ratio

Covered
Payroll

UAAL as a
% of
Covered
Payroll

80.4%

$ 1,101,632

37.7%

Contributions for the year ending September 30, 2011, totaling $137,194, were made in accordance with actuarially
determined contribution requirements determined through an actuarial valuation performed at December 31, 2010.
Annual reporting for the Salaried Plan is presented only in the Authority’s financial report.
Drivers Plan – The Drivers Plan’s funding policy provides for periodic employer contributions at contractually
negotiated rates that, expressed as an hourly rate, are sufficient to accumulate sufficient assets to pay benefits when
due. Significant actuarial assumptions used to compute contribution requirements are the same as those used to
compute the pension benefit obligation described above. Unfunded actuarial accrued liability is amortized over
10 years.
Annual Pension Cost and Net Pension Liability: The following table shows the components of the Authority’s annual
pension cost, amount actually contributed and changes in the net pension obligation for the year. The following table
shows the components of the Authority’s annual pension cost for the year, the amount contributed to the plan, and
changes in the Authority’s net pension obligation:

Annual required contribution
Interest on net pension obligation
Adjustment to annual required contribution
Annual pension cost
Contributions made
Change in net pension obligation (asset)
Net pension obligation (asset), beginning of year
Net pension obligation (asset), end of year

$

$
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583,455
(488,763)
910,501
1,005,193
(2,027,375)
(1,022,182)
(6,109,533)
(7,131,715)
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Note 10.

Employee Benefits (Continued)

Annual pension cost and contribution information for the last three fiscal years follows:

Fiscal
Year
Ending
9/30/11
9/30/10
9/30/09

Actuarially
Determined
Contribution
$
1,005,193
$
1,455,922
$
2,664,339

Percentage
of APC
Contributed
202%
146%
81%

Net
Pension
Obligation
(7,131,715)
(6,109,533)
(5,438,074)

Funding progress as of September 30, 2011 is as follows:

Actuarial
Valuation
Date

Actuarial
Value of
Assets

1/1/2010

$ 22,297,741

Actuarial
Accrued Liability
(AAL)

Unfunded
AAL (UAAL)

$

$

22,489,393

191,652

Funded
Ratio

Covered
Payroll

UAAL as a
% of
Covered
Payroll

99.1%

$ 14,579,457

1.3%

The schedule of funding progress presenting multi-year trend information about whether the actuarial values of plan
assets are increasing or decreasing over time relative to the actuarial accrued liabilities for benefits is presented as
required supplementary information following the notes to the financial statements.
Contributions for the year ending September 30, 2011, totaling $2,027,375 were made in accordance with the terms
of the labor agreement between the Amalgamated Transit Union and the Authority. The Drivers Plan issues a
separate, stand-alone audit report which can be obtained from the Authority’s Human Resources department.
Note 11.

Other Post-Employment Benefits

Pursuant to Section 112.081, Florida Statutes, the Authority is required to permit participation in the health insurance
program by retirees and their eligible dependents at a cost to the retiree that is no greater than the cost at which
coverage is available for active employees. The Authority does not provide retirees with any subsidy for this benefit.
Plan description: The Authority’s OPEB Plan (the “Plan”) is a single employer defined benefit healthcare (medical
and dental) plan which offers health insurance for retired employees. The published insurance rates are based
primarily on the healthcare usage of active employees. Retirees pay 100 percent of the published rates. Since
retirees use healthcare at a rate much higher than active employees, using these blended rates creates a hidden
subsidy for the retiree group. Employees who terminate their employment prior to retirement eligibility are not eligible
to participate in the plan. Dependents, including surviving spouses, are permitted access to the plan.
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Other Post-Employment Benefits (Continued)

The Plan does not issue a separate financial statement or required supplementary information.
Benefits for employees of JTM subject to union negotiations do not currently include any health benefits after
retirement and are not considered by this Plan.
As of September 30, 2011, employee membership data related to the Plan was as follows:

Current retirees:
Under age 65
Over age 65
Total current retirees

2
2

Active employees:
Active employees fully eligible for benefits
Active employees not yet fully eligible for benefits
Total active employees
Total number of participants

12
147
159
161

Actuarial assumptions, methods and valuation: Actuarial valuations of an ongoing plan involve estimates of the value
of reported amounts and assumptions about the probability of occurrence of events far into the future. Actuarially
determined amounts are subject to continual revision as actual results are compared to past expectations and new
estimates are made about the future. Although the valuation results are based on values the actuarial consultant
believes are reasonable assumptions, the valuation result is only an estimate of what future costs may actually be
and reflect a long-term perspective. Deviations in any of several factors, such as future interest rate discounts,
medical cost inflation, Medicare coverage risk and changes in marital status could result in actual costs being greater
or less than estimated.
Projections of benefits for financial reporting purposes are based on the substantive plan (the plan as understood by
the employer and the plan members) and include the types of benefits provided at the time of each valuation and the
historical pattern of sharing of benefit costs between the employer plan members to that point. The actuarial
methods and assumptions used include techniques that are designed to reduce the effects of short-term volatility in
actuarial accrued liabilities and the actuarial value of assets, consistent with the long-term perspective of the
calculations.
Funding policy: The Board is authorized to establish benefit levels, subject to the minimum requirements set forth by
Florida Statutes, and to approve the actuarial assumptions used in the determination of contribution levels. The
Board establishes the contribution requirements of plan members and the Authority. These contributions are neither
mandated nor guaranteed. The retiree pays the full cost of the premium each month for themselves, spouses and
other dependents who are also eligible for coverage. The Authority does not subsidize any member premiums.
Benefits are funded on a pay-as-you-go basis.
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Other Post-Employment Benefits (Continued)

Annual Required Contribution (“ARC”): In accordance with GASB Statement No. 45, an actuarial study was prepared
calculating the postemployment healthcare costs as of September 30, 2011. The actuarial valuation estimated the
Unfunded Actuarial Accrued Liability (“UAAL”) and an Annual Required Contribution (“ARC”) of $99,000.
The ARC represents a level of funding that, if paid on an ongoing basis, is projected to cover normal cost each year
and amortize any unfunded liability amounts over a period not to exceed 30 years.
The following table provides information concerning funding policies:

Valuation date
Actuarial cost method
Amortization method for UAAL
Amortization period
Actuarial assumptions:
Assumed rate of return on investments
Payroll increase
Healthcare cost trend rate(s):

October 1, 2010
Projected unit credit
Level dollar payment, closed
30 years
4.0% per annum
3.0% per annum
7.5% for 2011/12 graded
to 5.4% by 2050

Annual OPEB Cost and Net OPEB Liability: The following table shows the components of the Authority’s annual
OPEB cost, amount actually contributed and changes in net OPEB obligation for the year. The following table shows
the components of the Authority’s annual OPEB cost for the year, the amount contributed to the plan, and changes in
the Authority’s net OPEB obligation:

Annual required contribution
Interest on net OPEB obligation
Adjustment to annual required contribution
Annual OPEB cost
Contributions made
Change in net OPEB obligation (asset)
Net OPEB obligation (asset), beginning of year
Net OPEB obligation (asset), end of year

$

$

99,000
8,000
(7,877)
99,123
(32,000)
67,123
196,877
264,000

The Authority’s annual OPEB cost, the percentage of annual OPEB cost contributed to the plan, and the net OPEB
obligation for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2011 and one year preceding were as follows:

Fiscal
Year Ended
September 30, 2011
September 30, 2010

Annual
OPEB
Cost
99,000
92,000

Actual
Contributed
32,000
33,000
46

%
Contributed
32.3%
35.9%

Net
OPEB
Obligation
264,000
196,877
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Note 11.

Other Post-Employment Benefits (Continued)

Funded Status: The following is the funded status of the plan as of September 30, 2011:

Actuarial
Valuation Date
October 1, 2010

Note 12.

Actuarial
Valuation
of Assets
(a)
$
-

Actuarial
Accrued
Liability
(AAL)
(b)
$
666,000

Unfunded
AAL
(UAAL)
(b-a)
$ 666,000

Funded
Ratio
(a/b)
0.0%

Covered
Payroll
(c)
$ 1,009,137

UAAL as a
Percentage
of Covered
Payroll
((b-a)/c)
66.0%

Conduit Debt Obligations

The Authority has outstanding conduit debt obligations issued on behalf of the State of Florida, secured by pledge of
the Transportation Discretionary Sales Surtax and Constitutional Gas Taxes collected in Duval County, in addition to
a back-up pledge of the full faith and credit of the State of Florida. The aggregate outstanding amount of such bonds
(principal only) Bonds were $84,110,000 as of September 30, 2011. Such State of Florida bonds are senior in
priority to the Better Jacksonville Plan bonds described in Note 9.
Note 13.

Fund Balance

In accordance with Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement 54, Fund Balance Reporting and
Governmental Fund Type Definitions, the Authority classifies governmental fund balances as follows:
Non-spendable - includes fund balance amounts that cannot be spent either because it is not in a spendable form, or
because of legal or contractual requirements or limitations.
Spendable Fund Balance includes:
Restricted – fund balance amounts that are constrained for specific purposes which are externally imposed
by providers, such as creditors or amounts constrained due to constitutional provisions or enabling
legislation.
Committed – fund balance amounts that are constrained for specific purposes that are internally imposed by
the government through formal action of the highest level of decision making authority.
Assigned – spendable fund balance amounts that are intended to be used for specific purposes that are
neither considered restricted or committed. Fund Balance may be assigned for a specific purpose by the
Executive Director or Chief Financial Officer as authorized by the Board.
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Fund Balance (Continued)
Unassigned – residual positive fund balance within the General Fund which has not been classified within
the other above mentioned categories. Unassigned fund balance may also include negative balances for
any governmental fund if expenditures exceed amounts restricted, committed, or assigned for those specific
purposes.

The Authority uses restricted amounts to be spent first when both restricted and unrestricted fund balance is
available unless there are legal documents/contracts that prohibit doing this, such as in grant agreements requiring
dollar for dollar spending. Additionally, the Authority would first use committed, then assigned, and lastly unassigned
amounts of unrestricted fund balance when expenditures are made.
The Authority does not have a formal minimum fund balance policy. However, the Authority addresses various
targeted reserve positions and reports the results annually to the Board.
A schedule of Authority fund balances is provided below.

Special
Revenue
Fund

General
Fund
Spendable:
Restricted for State and City Construction Projects
Assigned to:
Transit operations
Operating reserves
Legal costs
Right of way acquisition
Construction projects
Authority initiatives
Unassigned

$

$
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30,000,000
3,000,000
9,050,000
6,000,000
20,000,000
16,050,000
17,942,466
102,042,466

$

6,299,326

$

6,299,326

Jacksonville Transportation Authority

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes
in Fund Balances – Budget and Actual – General Fund
Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2011
Original
Budget
Revenues
Intergovernmental:
Sales taxes
Investment income
Other
Total revenues

$

Expenditures
Current:
General government
Highway planning
Capital outlay
Intergovernmental:
City of Jacksonville
State of Florida debt service
Total expenditures
Excess (deficiency) of
revenues over (under)
expenditures

Final
Budget

65,900,805
1,300,000
500,000
67,700,805

$

Actual
Amounts

65,900,805
1,300,000
500,000
67,700,805

$

(919,918)
(1,158,732)
(357,885)
(2,436,535)

1,758,000
42,000

1,127,634
11,385
26,463

630,366
(11,385)
15,537

57,900,805
8,000,000
67,700,805

57,900,805
8,000,000
67,700,805

56,280,790
7,764,900
65,211,172

1,620,015
235,100
2,489,633

53,098

53,098

3,331,012

3,331,012

3,331,012
3,384,110
98,658,356
102,042,466

3,331,012
3,384,110
3,384,110

-

-

$

$

1,758,000
42,000

Other financing sources (uses):
Transfers in
Total other financing sources
(uses)
Net change in fund balances
Fund balances, beginning of year (restated)
Fund balances, end of year

64,980,887
141,268
142,115
65,264,270

Variance With
Final Budget

98,658,356
98,658,356

See Notes to Required Supplementary Information.
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$

98,658,356
98,658,356

$

$

Jacksonville Transportation Authority

Other Post-Employment Benefits Plan (Unaudited)
Schedule of Funding Progress
September 30, 2011

Actuarial
Valuation
Date
10/01/10
10/01/09
10/01/08
10/01/07

Actuarial
Value of
Assets
$
$
$
$

-

Actuarial
Accrued Liability
(AAL) – Entry Age

Unfunded
AAL (UAAL)

$
$
$
$

$
$
$
$

666,000
607,000
541,000
731,842

666,000
607,000
541,000
731,842
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Funded
Ratio
0.0%
0.0%
0.0%
0.0%

Covered
Payroll
$ 1,009,137
$ 858,146
$ 1,025,324
$ 1,001,346

UAAL as a
% of
Covered
Payroll
66.0%
70.7%
52.8%
73.1%

Jacksonville Transportation Authority

Required Supplementary Information (unaudited)
Schedule of Funding Progress – Drivers Plan
September 30, 2011

Drivers Plan
Unfunded or

Unfunded or

Actuarial

Actuarial

Actuarial

(Assets in

(Assets in Excess of)

Valuation

Value of

Accrued Liability

Excess of)

Date

Assets

(AAL)--Entry Age

(a)

(b)

1/1/2010
1/1/2009
1/1/2008
1/1/2007
1/1/2006
1/1/2005

$ 22,297,741
17,899,023
21,784,322
19,299,833
17,713,972
15,445,336

$

22,489,393
21,449,220
20,459,875
15,353,336
14,753,182
14,628,214

$

Funded

Covered

AAL as a Percentage

AAL

Ratio

Payroll

of Covered Payroll

( b-a )

( a/b )

(c)*

((b-a)/c)

99.15%
83.45%
106.47%
125.70%
120.07%
105.59%

$ 14,579,457
13,007,963
16,193,425
N/A
N/A
N/A

N/A
27.29%
-8.18%
N/A
N/A
N/A

191,652
3,550,197
(1,324,447)
(3,946,497)
(2,960,790)
(817,122)

* As contribution formula is not pay related, earnings information has not always been collected
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Note 1.

Budget and Budgetary Accounting

The Authority prepares annual budgets for each of its governmental funds except the Custodial Project special
revenue fund, which adopts project-length budgets, and the pension trust fund, which is effectively controlled through
governing agreements. The Authority is authorized to transfer appropriated funds, from one of the purposes for
which funds are appropriated, to another, if, in the discretion of the Authority, such transfer is necessary to carry out
all of the purposes for which funds are appropriated, subject to applicable law. Thus, the legal level of budgetary
control is at the fund level. All budgets are adopted in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States. Encumbrances outstanding at year-end for unfilled obligations are canceled and re-appropriated
in the succeeding year’s budget. Such amounts, if material, are disclosed in the notes to financial statements under
“Commitments and Contingencies.” In addition, the Authority is not legally required to establish a budget of
proprietary funds.
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Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards and State Financial Assistance
Year Ended September 30, 2011
Federal/State Agency, Pass-Through Entity, Federal Program

CFDA/CSFA

Contract/Grant

Federal

Paid to

Number

Number

Expenditures

Subrecipients

or Cluster Title/State Project
United States of Department of Transportation:
Direct Programs:
Federal Transit Cluster:
Federal Transit Capital Investment Grants –
New Starts Grants

20.500

FL-03-0338

20.500

FL-03-0339

556,987

-

20.500

FL-04-0008

84,111

-

20.500

FL-04-0077

161,057

-

20.500

FL-04-0111-01

21,589

-

20.500

FL-05-0092

60,229

-

20.500

FL-05-0098

85,392

-

Total New Starts Grants
Capital Improvement Grants:

Total Capital Improvement Grants

$

301,733

$

-

255,254

266,757

Modernization Grants:

20.500

FL-05-0102

24,892

-

20.500

FL-05-0106-01

315,827

-

486,340

-

20.507

FL-90-X499

35,670

-

20.507

FL-90-X531-01

554,647

-

20.507

FL-90-X561

146,212

-

20.507

FL-90-X600-01

1,903,487

-

20.507

FL-90-X643

1,296,939

-

20.507

FL-90-X683

883,140

-

20.507

FL-90-X711

1,347,442

-

20.507

FL-90-X742

6,005,360

-

20.507

FL-95-X027

790,332

-

20.507

FL-96-X012-01

Public Transportation Research – ITS Deployment Grant

20.514

FL26-0012

Job Access Reverse Commute Grants:

20.516

FL-37-X031-01

14,106

20.516

FL-37-X038

207,011

154,441

20.516

FL-37-X051-01

206,906

155,667

428,023

310,108

Total Modernization Grants
Federal Transit Formula Grants:

Total Federal Transit Formula Grants
*ARRA* Federal Transit Formula Grant
Total Federal Transit Cluster

Total Job Access Reverse Commute Grants
New Freedom Grants:

-

6,366,186

-

20,639,499

-

(377)

-

20.521

FL-57-X008

71,679

67,922

20.521

FL-57-X013

142,343

66,996

20.521

FL-57-X022-01

136,113

134,470

350,135

269,388

21,417,280

579,496

Total New Freedom Grants
Total Direct Programs

(Continued)
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Year Ended September 30, 2011
Federal/State Agency, Pass-Through Entity, Federal Program
or Cluster Title/State Project

CFDA/CSFA

Contract/Grant

Federal

Paid to

Number

Number

Expenditures

Subrecipients

Indirect Programs:
State of Florida Department of Transportation:
Highway Planning and Construction Grants:

20.205

SFT1 262R

20.205

SFTL 249R

20.205
20.205
20.205
20.205

$

925,618

$

-

65

-

SFTL 227R

7,720

-

SFTL 222R

26,642

-

SFTL 181R

2,470

-

IMD2002I

11,888

-

20.205

SFT2 210R

3,221

-

20.205

ARRA 075B

78,270

-

1,055,894

-

27,974

-

State of Florida Department of Transportation (City of Jacksonville):
Highway Planning and Construction Grants:

20.205

888 984A

20.205
20.509

ARRA 075B
FL18X027

20.509

FL18X028

20.509

FL18X030

Total Highway Planning and Construction Grants
"ARRA" Highway Planning and Construction Grants
Formula Grants for Other Than Urbanized Areas

Total Formula Grants for Other Than Urbanized Areas
Total State of Florida Department of Transportation

1,083,868

-

(169,773)

-

31,294

-

3,119

-

784

-

35,197

-

949,292

-

First Coast Metropolitan Planning Organization:
Federal Transit Metropolitan Planning Grant

20.505

FL-80-0002

(4,318)

-

Federal Transit Metropolitan Planning Grant

20.505

FL-80-0005

31,414

-

27,096

-

Total Federal Transit Metropolitan Planning Grants
Total Indirect Programs

976,388

Total United States Department of Transportation

-

22,393,668

579,496

United States Department of Homeland Security:
Direct Programs:
Federal Emergency Management Agency
Transit Security Grant Program

97.075

2009-RA-T9-0078

97.075

08DS-83-13-00-20-389

-

45,668

Indirect Programs:
Florida Department of Community Affairs:
Rail and Transit Security Grant Program
Total United States Department of Homeland Security
Total Expenditures of Federal Awards

54,612

-

100,280
$

(Continued)
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Year Ended September 30, 2011
Federal/State Agency, Pass-Through Entity, Federal Program
or Cluster Title/State Project

CFDA/CSFA

Contract/Grant

Federal

Paid to

Number

Number

Expenditures

Subrecipients

State of Florida Department of Transportation:
Mass Transit Projects:
Commission for the Transportation Disadvantaged (CTD)
Trip and Equipment Grant Program

55.001

APZ65

55.001

AQB94

284,349
1,103,457

-

55.010

APQ449

3,693,956

-

3,693,956

-

55.007

APC11

2,677

-

2,677

-

55.012

APD20

21,356

-

55.012

APD21

15,104

-

55.012

APP87

24,423

-

55.012

APU25

124,255

-

55.012

APW56

25,252

-

55.012

AQ810

$

819,108

$

-

Total Commission for the Transportation Disadvantaged
(CTD) Trip and Equipment Grant Program
Public Transit Block Grant Program:
Total Public Transit Block Grant Program
Commuter Assistance Program:
Total Commuter Assistance Program
Public Transit Service Development Program:

Total Public Transit Service Development Program
Total Direct Programs

70,699

-

281,089

-

5,081,179

-

73,787

-

73,787

-

73,787

-

Indirect Programs:
State of Florida Department of Transportation:
Growth Management/SIS Appropriation Program – Hecksher

55.023

AP438

Total Growth Management/SIS Appropriation Program – Hecksher
Total Indirect Programs
Total Expenditures of State Financial Assistance

$

See Notes to Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards and State Financial Assistance.
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5,154,966

$

-
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Notes to Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards and State Financial Assistance
Year Ended September 30, 2011
Note 1.

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards and state financial assistance includes the federal
and state grant activity of the Jacksonville Transportation Authority and is presented using the modified accrual basis
of accounting for grants which are accounted for in governmental funds and on the accrual basis of accounting for
grants which are accounted for in proprietary funds. The information in this schedule is presented in accordance with
the requirements of OMB Circular A-133, Audits of States, Local Governments, and Non-Profit Organizations and
Chapter 10.500, Rules of the Auditor General. Therefore, some amounts presented in this schedule may differ from
amounts presented in or used in the presentation of the basic financial statements.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and on
Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of
Financial Statements Performed in Accordance with
Government Auditing Standards
To the Board Members
Jacksonville Transportation Authority
Jacksonville, Florida
We have audited the financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each major
fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the Jacksonville Transportation Authority (the “Authority”), a
component unit of the City of Jacksonville, Florida, as of and for the year ended September 30, 2011, which
collectively comprise the Authority’s basic financial statements and have issued our report thereon dated March 29,
2012. Our report was modified to include the adoption of the recognition and disclosure requirements of
Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 54, Accounting for Fund Balance Reporting and
Governmental Fund Type Definitions during fiscal year 2011. We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing
standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits
contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States.
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
Management of the Authority is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal control over financial
reporting. In planning and performing our audit, we considered the Authority's internal control over financial reporting
as a basis for designing our auditing procedures for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial
statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Authority’s internal control
over financial reporting. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the Authority's internal
control over financial reporting.
A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or
employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct
misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal
control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will
not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis.
Our consideration of internal control over financial reporting was for the limited purpose described in the first
paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control over financial reporting
that might be deficiencies, significant deficiencies, or material weaknesses. We did not identify any deficiencies in
internal control over financial reporting that we consider to be material weaknesses, as defined above.
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Compliance and Other Matters
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Authority's financial statements are free of material
misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and grant
agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the determination of financial
statement amounts. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our
audit and, accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no instances of
noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards.
We also noted certain matters that we reported to management of the Authority in a separate letter.
This report is intended solely for the information and use of the governing body of the Jacksonville Transportation
Authority, management, federal and state awarding agencies and pass-through entities, and the Auditor General of
the State of Florida, and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these specified parties.

Jacksonville, Florida
March 29, 2012
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Independent Auditor’s Report
on Compliance With Requirements That Could Have a
Direct and Material Effect on Each Major Federal Program
and State Project and on Internal Control Over Compliance
in Accordance with OMB Circular A-133 and Chapter 10.550,
Rules of the Auditor General
To the Board Members
Jacksonville Transportation Authority
Jacksonville, Florida
Compliance
We have audited the compliance of the Jacksonville Transportation Authority (the “Authority”), with the types of
compliance requirements described in OMB Circular A-133 Compliance Supplement and the requirements described
in the Department of Financial Services’ Compliance Supplement that could have a direct and material effect on the
Authority’s major federal program and major state project for the year ended September 30, 2011. The Authority’s
major federal program and major state project are identified in the summary of auditor’s results section of the
accompanying Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs. Compliance with the requirements of laws, regulations,
contracts, and grants applicable to its major federal program and its major state project are the responsibility of the
Authority’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Authority’s compliance based on our
audit.
We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States
of America; the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the
Comptroller General of the United States; OMB Circular A-133, Audits of States, Local Governments, and Non-Profit
Organizations; and Chapter 10.550, Rules of the Auditor General, State of Florida. Those standards, OMB Circular
A-133 and Chapter 10.550, Rules of the Auditor General, require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether noncompliance with the types of compliance requirements referred to above
that could have a direct and material effect on a major federal program or major state project occurred. An audit
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence about the Authority’s compliance with those requirements and
performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit
provides a reasonable basis for our opinion. Our audit does not provide a legal determination on the Authority’s
compliance with those requirements.
In our opinion, the Authority complied, in all material respects, with the requirements referred to above that could
have a direct and material effect on its major federal program or state project for the year ended September 30,
2011.
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Internal Control over Compliance
Management of the Authority is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal control over
compliance with requirements of laws, regulations, contracts, and grants applicable to federal programs and state
projects. In planning and performing our audit, we considered the Authority’s internal control over compliance with
requirements that could have a direct and material effect on a major federal program or major state project in order to
determine our auditing procedures for the purpose of expressing our opinion on compliance and to test and report on
internal control over compliance in accordance with OMB Circular A-133 and Chapter 10.550, Rules of the Auditor
General, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control over compliance.
Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the Authority’s internal control over compliance.
A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and
correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program or state project on a timely basis.
A material weakness in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal
control over compliance, such that there is a reasonable possibility that material noncompliance with a type of
compliance requirement of a federal program or state project will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a
timely basis.
Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of
this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control over compliance that might be
deficiencies, significant deficiencies or material weaknesses. We did not identify any deficiencies in internal control
over compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses, as defined above.
This report is intended solely for the information and use of the governing body of the Authority, management, federal
and state awarding agencies and pass-through entities, and the Auditor General of the State of Florida, and is not
intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these specified parties.

Jacksonville, Florida
June 28, 2012
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Jacksonville Transportation Authority
Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs
For the Year Ended September 30, 2011
I - Summary of Independent Auditor's Results
Financial Statements
Type of auditor's report issued:

Unqualified

Internal control over financial reporting:
Material weakness(es) identified?
Significant deficiency(ies) identified that are
not considered to be material weakness(es)?
Noncompliance material to financial statements noted?
Federal Awards
Internal control over major programs:
Material weakness(es) identified?
Significant deficiency(ies) identified not
considered to be material weakness(es)?

Yes

X

No

Yes
Yes

X
X

None Reported
No

Yes

X

No

Yes

X

None Reported

Type of auditor's report issued on compliance for
major programs:
Any audit findings disclosed that are required
to be reported in accordance with Section
510(a) of Circular A-133?

Yes

Identification of major programs:
CFDA Number(s)
20.500/20.507

Name of Federal Program or Cluster
Federal Transit Cluster

Unqualified

Dollar threshold used to distinguish between type
A and type B programs:

X

No

$

674,818

Auditee qualified as low-risk auditee?

Yes

X

No

State Financial Assistance
Internal control over major programs:
Material weakness(es) identified?
Significant deficiency(ies) identified not
considered to be material weakness(es)?

Yes

X

No

Yes

X

None Reported

Type of auditor's report issued on compliance for
major programs:
Any audit findings disclosed that are required
to be reported in accordance with Chapter 10.550,
Rules of the Auditor General?

Yes

Identification of major programs:
CFDA Number(s)
55.010

Name of State Program or Project
Public Transit Block Grant Program

Dollar threshold used to distinguish between type
A and type B programs:

$

Unqualified
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X

300,000

No

Jacksonville Transportation Authority
Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs (Continued)
For the Year Ended September 30, 2011
Section II – Financial Statement Findings
A. Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
None reported.
B. Compliance and Other Matters
None reported.
Section III – Findings and Question Costs for Federal Awards and State Projects
A. Internal Control Over Compliance
None reported
B. Compliance
None Reported
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Jacksonville Transportation Authority
Summary Schedule of Prior Year’s Findings
For the Year Ended September 30, 2011

Observation
is Still
Relevant

No.

Prior Year's Observations

IC 2010-01
IC 2010-02
CF 2010-01

Internal Controls Over Financial Reporting
Segregation of Duties
Reporting
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Observation
Addressed or
No Longer
Relevant
X
X
X

Management Letter Required By
Chapter 10.550 of the Rules of the
Auditor General of the State of Florida
To the Board Members
Jacksonville Transportation Authority
Jacksonville, Florida
We have audited the financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each major
fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the Jacksonville Transportation Authority (the “Authority”) as of
and for the year ended September 30, 2011, and have issued our report thereon dated March 29, 2012.
We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America;
the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller
General of the United States; and OMB Circular A-133, Audits of States, Local Governments and Non-Profit
Organizations and the requirements described in the Department of Financial Services’ State Projects Compliance
Supplement. We have issued our Independent Auditor’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and
Compliance and Other Matters, Independent Auditor’s Report on Compliance That Could Have a Direct and Material
Effect on Each Major Federal Program and State Project and on Internal Control over Compliance in Accordance
with OMB Circular A-133 and Chapter 10.550, Rules of the Auditor General, and Schedule of Findings and
Questioned Costs. Disclosures in those reports and schedule should be considered in conjunction with this
management letter.
Additionally, our audit was conducted in accordance with the provisions of Chapter 10.550, Rules of the Auditor
General, which govern the conduct of local governmental entity audits performed in the State of Florida. This letter
includes the following information, which is not included in the aforementioned auditor’s reports or schedule:
1. Section 10.554(1)(i)1., Rules of the Auditor General, requires that we determine whether or not corrective
actions have been taken to address significant findings and recommendations made in the preceding annual
financial audit report. The status of recommendations made in the preceding annual financial audit report has
been addressed in Appendix B to this report.
2. Section 10.554(1)(i)2., Rules of the Auditor General, requires our audit to include a review of the provisions of
Section 218.415, Florida Statutes, regarding the investment of public funds. In connection with our audit, we
determined that the Authority complied with Section 218.415, Florida Statues.
3. Section 10.554(1)(i)3., Rules of the Auditor General, requires that we address in the management letter any
recommendations to improve financial management. Recommendations to improve the Authority’s financial
management are reported below in Appendix A to this report.
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4. Section 10.554(1)(i)4., Rules of the Auditor General, requires that we address violations of provisions of
contracts or grant agreements, or abuse, that have occurred, or are likely to have occurred, that have an effect
on the financial statements that is less than material but more than inconsequential. In connection with our
audit, we did not have any such findings.
5. Section 10.554(1)(i)5., Rules of the Auditor General, provides that the auditor may, based on professional judgment,
report the following matters that have an inconsequential effect on financial statements, considering both
quantitative and qualitative factors:
a. Violations of provisions of contracts or grant agreements, fraud, illegal acts, or abuse, and;
b. Deficiencies in internal control that are not significant deficiencies.
In connection with our audit, we did not have any such findings.
6. Section 10.554(1)(i)6, Rules of the Auditor General, requires that the name or official title and legal authority for
the primary government and each component unit of the reporting entity be disclosed in this management letter,
unless disclosed in the notes to the financial statements. This information is disclosed in Note 1 in the notes to
the financial statements.
7. Section 10.554(1)(i)7a, Rules of the Auditor General, requires a statement be included as to whether or not the
local governmental entity has met one or more of the conditions described in Section 218.503(1), Florida
Statutes, and identification of the specific condition(s) met. In connection with our audit, we determined that the
Authority did not meet any of the conditions described in Section 218.503(1), Florida Statutes.
8. Section 10.554(1)(i)7b, Rules of the Auditor General, requires that we determine whether the annual financial
report for the Authority for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2011, filed with the Florida Department of
Financial Services pursuant to Section 218.32(1)(a), Florida Statutes, is in agreement with the annual financial
audit report for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2011. In connection with our audit, we determined that
these two reports were in agreement.
9. Pursuant to Sections 10.554(1)(i)7c and 10.556(7), Rules of the Auditor General, we applied financial condition
assessment procedures. It is management’s responsibility to monitor the Authority’s financial condition, and our
financial condition assessment was based in part on representations made by management and the review of
financial information provided by same. We noted no deteriorating financial condition pursuant to Rule
10.556(7) as of September 30, 2011.
Pursuant to Chapter 119, Florida Statutes, this management letter is a public record and its distribution is not limited.
Auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America require us to indicate this letter is intended
solely for the information and use of the Board Members, management, federal and state awarding agencies and
pass-through entities and the State of Florida Office of the Florida Auditor General and is not intended to be and
should not be used by anyone other than these specified parties.

Jacksonville, Florida
June 28, 2012
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Jacksonville Transportation Authority
Appendix A – Current Year Management Recommendations
For the Year Ended September 30, 2011

No.
ML 2011-01
ML 2011-02
ML 2011-03
ML 2011-04

Current Year's Observations
Davis-Bacon Certified Payrolls
Documentation of Controls
Census Data Provided to Actuaries
Information Technology Security Policies
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Jacksonville Transportation Authority
Appendix A – Current Year Management Recommendations (Continued)
For the Year Ended September 30, 2011
ML 2011-01 Davis-Bacon Certified Payrolls
U.S. Department of Transportation (DOT) –
Federal Transit Cluster (CFDA No.’s 20.500 & 20.507)
Criteria: OMB Circular A-133 provides that non-federal entities shall include in their construction contracts subject to
the Davis-Bacon Act a requirement that the contractor or subcontractor comply with the requirements of the DavisBacon Act and the DOL regulations (29 CFR part 5, Labor Standards Provisions Applicable to Contacts Governing
Federally Financed and Assisted Construction). This includes a requirement for the contractor or subcontractor to
submit to the non-federal entity weekly, for each week in which any contract work is performed, a copy of the payroll
and a statement of compliance (certified payrolls) (29 CFR sections 5.5 and 5.6).
Condition: For two of the contractors tested, the Authority did not collect the required certified payrolls on a weekly
basis during the fiscal year. However, the Authority was able to request and obtain the required information from the
contractors.
Context: This condition is considered isolated in nature.
Effect: Non-compliance with Davis-Bacon Act by a contractor could occur and not be detected by the Authority on a
timely basis. Failure to monitor and review certified payrolls could result in ineligible payments to contractors, which
could require remedial action by the Authority.
Cause: The Authority’s procedures for monitoring Davis-Bacon compliance were not consistently applied to all
federally funded construction projects.
Recommendation: The Authority has procedures in to comply with the requirements of the Davis-Bacon Act. We
recommend that each department which administers federally funded constructions projects receive instruction and
training in monitoring compliance with the Davis-Bacon Act.
Views of responsible officials and planned corrective actions: The single, grant-funded project in which this finding
occurred involved performing civil work for installing bus shelters. This project was managed by the Mass Transit
Facilities department, the only non-Engineering department to manage any “construction projects.” JTA’s standard
construction specifications contain the requirement to submit certified payrolls. JTA’s Engineering project managers
overseeing federally-funded construction projects are properly trained, and ensure payroll certifications are provided
with pay requests that they review. The files of Engineering projects reflect this compliance with Davis-Bacon payroll
certification requirements.
JTA will update the contract invoice routing forms to indicate that the Project Manager will be responsible for verifying
that certifications are provided with pay requests for all future federally funded construction projects.
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Jacksonville Transportation Authority
Appendix A – Current Year Management Recommendations (Continued)
For the Year Ended September 30, 2011
ML 2011-02 Documentation of Controls
Criteria: Authority personnel perform reviews of overtime reports as part of their routine oversight of the payroll
process. These reviews, however, are not formally documented to demonstrate completion of the reviews.
Condition: The implementation of the review of the overtime reports is a secondary review of the payroll runs, but
has become a key mitigating control to monitor the payroll process.
Context: This condition is considered systemic in nature.
Effect: The Authority cannot provide written evidence that the review is taking place.
Cause: The Authority’s procedures do not require documentation of the process.
Recommendation: We recommend that the Authority review its procedures to incorporate the formal documentation
of reviews and consider re-organization of responsibilities in order to relieve reliance on mitigating controls.
Views of responsible officials and planned corrective actions: Overtime reports are regularly reviewed and monitored
by operational and financial management. In addition, the software application that captures employee time has a
formal approval function that requires the supervisor to acknowledge the overtime as part of the pre-payroll review
process on a weekly basis.
Management concurs with the recommendation to limit reliance on mitigating controls. In conjunction with the
Authority’s planned implementation of its ERP system and as a part of a larger review of the Finance Department’s
organization, both of which are intended to strengthen controls and increase operating efficiency, management will
evaluate the assignment of responsibilities to further strengthen internal controls over payroll.
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Jacksonville Transportation Authority
Appendix A – Current Year Management Recommendations (Continued)
For the Year Ended September 30, 2011
ML 2011-03 Census Data Provided to Actuaries
Criteria: The actuarially determined OPEB and pension liabilities are dependent on accurate census data.
Condition: In our testing of census data, we noted that the census data provided to the actuaries for the OPEB Plan
and International Association of Machinists Pension Plan contained inaccuracies.
Context: This condition is considered systemic in nature.
Effect: The inaccurate census data had a minor impact on the calculation of the net OPEB, but did not have any
influence on the calculation of the pension liabilities in the current year.
Cause: The Authority made an incorrect assumption in the inclusion of certain employees in the OPEB census. The
errors noted in the pension census data appear to be related to employees that moved from the Operations
department to the Mass Transit department or vice versa.
Recommendation: We recommend that the Authority evaluate its procedures pertaining to the production of the
censuses and develop controls safeguarding the integrity of the census data.
Views of responsible officials and planned corrective actions: Management acknowledges the incorrect inclusion of
certain workers in the JTA census data transmitted to the actuary for use in calculating costs for Other Post
Employment Benefits (OPEB) and will evaluate appropriateness of the selection criteria used to provide the annual
census data.
ML 2011-04 Information Technology Security Policies
Criteria: General IT controls provide reasonable assurance that appropriate system access, change management,
and computer operations controls are in place over financial reporting applications.
.
Condition: During the audit of IT general controls we noted the following observations:
a) Information Security Policy & Guidelines: The information security procedures are not formally documented
to detail policies over the organizations security program.
b) Audit Logs: There is not a formal policy or procedure in place to review for adherence to system logging
requirements, including:
o If the logs are reviewed on a daily or weekly basis
o Who reviews the logs
o If procedures are in place and followed for what the logs are being reviewed for and what actions to
take if an issue is detected
c) Change Management Policy: No change management policy is documented to detail policies to ensure
changes within the IT environment are:
o Properly approved
o Tested
o Authorized prior to being moved to production
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Jacksonville Transportation Authority
Appendix A – Current Year Management Recommendations (Continued)
For the Year Ended September 30, 2011
Context: This condition is considered systemic in nature.
Effect: Risks include unauthorized use, disclosure of proprietary information, modification, damage, or loss of data.
Recommendation: We suggest the Authority consider the following recommendations to address each of the
observations specified in the Condition section above:
a) Information Security Policy & Guidelines: Develop a comprehensive IT security policy that is the foundation
for data security and compliance. The policy should be reviewed periodically by management and
communicated to all employees. In addition, management should obtain employee’s acknowledgement that
they have received the policy and will adhere to the stated policies.
b) Audit Logs: Incorporate formal policies and procedures related to the generation and review of audit logs to
be reviewed by management on a periodic basis. Documentation of completion of these reviews should be
retained to demonstrate compliance with the Authority’s policies.
c) Change Management: Develop a formal policy detailing Change Management requirements, which includes
retaining evidence of approvals, testing, and authorizations when changes are made to the production
environment
Views of responsible officials and planned corrective actions:
a) The Information Technology Department has internal procedures in place to support the organizations
security concerns. This includes software and hardware that is monitored 24/7/365 through email alerts and
detection. If in the event of an incident, the Senior Network Engineer and the Network Engineer are notified
by these systems. It is their responsibility to respond appropriately and take the necessary actions to
mitigate or resolve the issue. The department has a secure wireless environment. Guests at the JTA are
allowed access through sponsorship by a JTA employee. Internet access through our wireless environment
is highly restricted.
b) The Information Technology Department has an internal process that creates logs on a daily, weekly and
monthly basis. The logs are reviewed by the Senior Network Engineer and the Network Administrator.
Regular updates to our software and appliances are performed as new releases are issued. In the event of
any issues detected, IT staff will determine the appropriate actions for resolution. The following is a
sampling of some of the reports produced;
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o

Email Volume
Incoming Messages by Sender
Inbound Spam Messages from Unclassified Senders
Juniper Firewall Alerts (intrusion attempts)
Inbound Virus Messages by Sender
Inbound Mail by Recipient
Outbound Email by Sending Host
Outbound Email by Recipient Domain
Virus Scanner Statistics by Type
Virus Outbreak Filter Summary
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Jacksonville Transportation Authority
Appendix A – Current Year Management Recommendations (Continued)
For the Year Ended September 30, 2011
o
o

Daily Web Activity Detail
Trend Micro Desktop Virus Scanning

c) The Information Technology Department has a standard form used for Change Management. The form
identifies the following;
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o

Initiator
Type of Change
Priority
Start/End Date/Time
Location
Systems Affected
Departments Affected
Description
Solution
Test Plan
Roll Back Plan
Resources Required
Approval
Results
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Jacksonville Transportation Authority
Appendix B – Status of Prior Year Management Recommendations
For the Year Ended September 30, 2011

No.

Prior Year's Observations

ML 2010-01
ML 2010-02
ML 2010-03
ML 2010-04
ML 2010-05

Capital Asset Inventory
Logical Access to IT Systems
Farebox Cash Receipts
Ticket Booth Cash Receipts
Personnel Files

Observation
is Still
Relevant

Observation
Addressed or
No Longer
Relevant

X
X
X
X
X
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Jacksonville Transportation Authority
Appendix B – Status of Prior Year Management Recommendations
For the Year Ended September 30, 2011
Criteria: In accordance with Florida Department of Financial Services Rule 69I-73.006, an inventory of all capital
assets is required to be performed on an annual basis to verify the existence of all capital assets.
Condition: During our audit, we noted that a physical inventory of all capital assets was being completed on a
biannual basis, which is in accordance with FTA regulations. We noted, further, disposals of capital assets that were
not timely recorded in the asset records of the Authority.
Cause: An annual physical inventory of capital assets is not being performed.
Effect: Increased risk of misstatement of capital asset balances.
Recommendation: We recommend that the Authority perform an annual physical inventory of all capital assets to
support the existence of the assets in order to prevent the misstatement of capital asset balances and to prevent the
misappropriation of assets. This can be performed either through a year-end physical count or via cycle counts
performed throughout the year.
Current Year View of Responsible Officials and Planned Corrective Action: An annual physical inventory of all capital
assets was undertaken but not completed in fiscal 2011. It took the form of selected counts on a non-routine basis,
but was subject to limitations of staffing. This situation has been fully corrected in the current fiscal year (2012) with
a complete inventory of all fixed assets currently being finalized. This process will continue for subsequent years on
a regularly scheduled basis.
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